Josephson current through the SYK model

Luca Dell'Anna

Dipartimento di Fisica e Astronomia "G. Galilei" e Sezione INFN, Università di Padova, via F. Marzolo 8, I-35131, Padova, Italy

Abstract

We calculate the equilibrium Josephson current through a disordered interacting quantum dot described by a Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev model fully contacted by two BCS superconductors, such that all modes of the dot contribute to the coupling, which encodes hopping and spin-flip processes. We show that, at zero temperature and at the conformal limit, i.e. in the strong interacting limit, the Josephson current is suppressed by U, the strength of the interaction, as $\ln(U)/U$ and becomes universal, namely it gets independent on the superconducting gap. At finite temperature, instead, it depends on the ratio between the gap and the temperature. A proximity effect exists but the self-energy corrections induced by the coupling with the superconducting leads seem subleading as compared to the interaction self-energy and the tunneling matrix for large number of particles. Finally we compare the results of the original four-fermion model with those obtained considering zero interaction, two-fermions and a generalized q-fermion model.

Copyright L. Dell'Anna.	Received	30-12-2023	
This work is licensed under the Creative Commons	Accepted	09-10-2024	Chuch fan
Attribution 4.0 International License.	Published	24-10-2024	updates
Published by the SciPost Foundation.	doi:10.214	468/SciPostPhys.	17.4.120

Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	Model	3
	2.1 Tunneling term	3
3	SYK ₄ dot	6
	3.1 Effective action	6
	3.2 Saddle point equations	7
4	Josephson current	9
	4.1 Large interaction limit	10
	4.2 Random couplings	11
	4.3 Finite temperature	14
	4.4 Proximity effect	15
5	Other cases	16
	5.1 Zero interaction	16
	5.2 SYK ₂ dot	17
	5.3 SYK_a dot	20

6	Conclusions	20
A	Appendix	21
Ref	erences	22

1 Introduction

The Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev (SYK) model, a non-Fermi liquid describing fermions with infiniterange interactions, has attracted a lot of scientific interest in recent years [1,2]. Compared to ordinary Fermi liquids, it displays highly unusual properties; for example, its resistivity is linear in temperature [3–5]. Moreover, it has been shown that the SYK model is dual to an anti-de Sitter space in two-dimensions [2, 6–8], opening an alternative way for investigating black holes. Regarding its experimental implementation, several proposals have already been formulated in solid state physics based on quantum dots coupled to topological superconducting wires [9], graphene flakes with irregular boundary [10, 11], by applying optical lattices [12], and in the field of cavity quantum electrodynamics [13].

A lot of theoretical studies have been devoted to study many peculiar properties of the SYK model, either at equilibrium and out-of equilibrium. Different investigations about many aspects of this model have been carried out, ranging from the dynamics triggered by a quantum quench [14], to realizing traversable wormholes [15], or about the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy [16, 17] and the existence of anomalous power laws in the temperature dependent conductance [18, 19]. Several studies have been also conducted investigating the mesoscopic physics by the SYK model, considering a lattice of SYK dots [20], analyzing the thermoelectric transport [21] and the charge transport by coupling with metallic leads [22,23], characterizing the current and supercurrent driven by double contact setups [24], looking at the dynamics by coupling with Markovian reservoirs [25], and thermal baths, detecting some peculiar thermalization properties [26–29]. Several attempts have been done also to include superconductivity in the SYK model [30–33] with the need of upgrading the original complex model to a spin-full version with, in addition, a mechanism of particle attraction provided by phonons or by a negative Hubbard term.

Despite this intense scientific activity done on the transport properties of the SYK model, one of the most interesting and yet-little studied topic is about the currents driven by superconducting leads. Non-equilibrium currents triggered by a voltage applied either through normal and superconducting leads have been investigated [24], however a study of the equilibrium Josephson current is still laking. The Josephson effect provides a fundamental signature of phase-coherent transport through mesoscopic samples [34]. We calculate the direct Josephson current obtained by contacting a SYK dot by two conventional Bardeen-Cooper-Schrieffer (BCS) superconductors. The coupling between the dot and the superconductors involves uniformly all the degrees of freedom of the dot and encodes either hooping and spin-flip processes, in the same spirit of what done linking a topological p-wave superconductor with s-wave superconducting leads [35,36]. We show that a proximity effect is induced in the dot, which causes the tunneling current originated by a phase-difference without applying any voltage, however the self-energy of the dot is weakly affected by the coupling with the superconducting leads in the so-called conformal limit, namely for large interaction and in the limit of large number of particles. We found that, in this limit, the Josephson current is suppressed by U, the strength of the interaction, as $\ln(U)/U$ and becomes universal, namely the current gets independent on the superconducting pairing. This means that the Josephson current, at zero temperature, and in the conformal limit, is the same for all BCS-like superconductors. Strikingly this result turns

out to be formally the same as that obtained for a chaotic Josephson junction in the ergodic and long-dwell time regime reported in Ref. [37]. At finite temperature *T*, instead, the dependence on the superconducting gap Δ is restored. The current turns out to be dependent on the ratio between the gap and the temperature and goes as Δ^2/T^2 for large temperatures. Moreover we also considered the SYK model with two fermionic operators, keeping the coupling with the leads the same. In this case the current depends on Δ and is highly non sinusoidal. Finally for a generalized *q*-fermion SYK model, the SYK_{*q*} model, we find that, for *q* > 4 and in the weak coupling regime, the current looses completely its dependence on the gap.

2 Model

We study a system composed by a dot, modeled by a complex SYK Hamiltonian H_d , and twosuperconducting leads described by H_0 . The hybridization of the dot and the superconducting reservoirs takes place by the tunneling term H_T . The full Hamiltonian is, therefore,

$$H = H_0 + H_T + H_d , \qquad (1)$$

where the first term

$$H_{0} = \sum_{p=L,R} \left(\sum_{k,\sigma} (\epsilon_{k} - \mu_{p}) c_{p\sigma k}^{\dagger} c_{p\sigma k} + \sum_{k} \Delta_{p} e^{i\phi_{p}} c_{p\uparrow k}^{\dagger} c_{p\downarrow - k}^{\dagger} \right) + h.c., \qquad (2)$$

describes the two BCS-Hamiltonians, contacted to the left side (p = L) and to the right side (p = R) of the dot, $c_{L\sigma k}$, $c_{R\sigma k}$ the annihilation and $c_{L\sigma k}^{\dagger}$, $c_{R\sigma k}^{\dagger}$ creation fermionic operators, ϵ_k is the single particle spectrum, μ_L and μ_R the chemical potentials, Δ_L and Δ_R the gaps with phases ϕ_L and ϕ_R , respectively.

The second term is the tunneling Hamiltonian

$$H_T = \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \sum_{p=L,R} \sum_{k,\sigma,n} t_{pn\sigma} c^{\dagger}_{p\sigma k} d_n + h.c., \qquad (3)$$

where $t_{Ln\sigma}$ and $t_{Rn\sigma}$ are the spin-dependent hybridization parameters. This tunneling Hamiltonian encodes either the hopping which allows a fermion to jump into or out of the dot with same spin projection and the spin-flip processes at the interface for opposite spin projections, in the same spirit of Refs. [35], [36], where a topological superconductor made of spinless fermions is coupled to s-wave BCS superconducting electrodes. The fermionic operators d_n and d_n^{\dagger} are defined in the dot. The last term of Eq. (1) is the following complex SYK Hamiltonian of the dot

$$H_{d} = \frac{1}{(2N)^{3/2}} \sum_{i,j,n,l=1}^{N} U_{ijnl} d_{i}^{\dagger} d_{j}^{\dagger} d_{n} d_{l} - \mu \sum_{i} d_{i}^{\dagger} d_{i}, \qquad (4)$$

where N fermions have a disordered all-to-all four-body interaction U_{ijnl} , Gaussian distributed.

2.1 Tunneling term

Let us first consider the leads and the tunneling term. We introduce the following Nambu-Jona-Lasinio spinors

$$\Psi_{pk} = \begin{pmatrix} c_{p\uparrow k} \\ c_{p\downarrow-k}^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \bar{\Psi}_{pk} = \begin{pmatrix} c_{p\uparrow k}^{\dagger} & c_{p\downarrow-k} \end{pmatrix},$$
(5)

Sci Post

for the fermions of the leads, and

$$D_n = \begin{pmatrix} d_n \\ d_n^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \bar{D}_n = \left(d_n^{\dagger} d_n \right), \tag{6}$$

for the fermions of the dot. The Hamiltonian of the leads, H_0 , in this representation, becomes

$$H_0 = \sum_{pk} \bar{\Psi}_{pk} \left[(\epsilon_k - \mu_p) \tau_3 + \Delta_p \cos(\phi_p) \tau_1 - \Delta_p \sin(\phi_p) \tau_2 \right] \Psi_{pk}, \tag{7}$$

where τ_1, τ_2, τ_3 are Pauli matrices, and the tunneling Hamiltonian H_T reads

$$H_T = \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \sum_{p,k,n} \left(\bar{\Psi}_{pk} \hat{T}_{pn} D_n , + \bar{D}_n \hat{T}^{\dagger}_{pn} \Psi_{pk} \right), \tag{8}$$

where

$$\hat{T}_{pn} = \begin{pmatrix} t_{pn\uparrow} & 0\\ 0 & -t^*_{pn\downarrow} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(9)

Let us take $\mu_R = \mu_L = \mu$, i.e. at equilibrium. Defining

$$G_{kp}^{-1} = i\omega + \xi_k \tau_3 + \Delta_p \cos(\phi_p) \tau_1 - \Delta_p \sin(\phi_p) \tau_2, \qquad (10)$$

where $\xi_k = \epsilon_k - \mu$, and integrating over Ψ ,

$$e^{-S_c} = \int \mathcal{D}\bar{\Psi}\mathcal{D}\Psi \exp\left\{-\sum_{pk\omega} \left[\bar{\Psi}_{pk}G_{pk}^{-1}\Psi_{pk} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}}\sum_n(\bar{\Psi}_{pk}\hat{T}_{pn}D_n + \bar{D}_n\hat{T}_{pn}^{\dagger}\Psi_{pk})\right]\right\},\qquad(11)$$

we get the contribution to the action of the dot due to the coupling with the leads

$$S_{c} = -\sum_{nm\omega} \bar{D}_{n}(\omega) \mathcal{T}_{nm}(\omega) D_{m}(\omega), \qquad (12)$$

where, after defining

$$\tilde{\Gamma}_{pnm}^{+} = \frac{1}{2} \left(t_{pn\uparrow}^{*} t_{pm\uparrow} + t_{pn\downarrow} t_{pm\downarrow}^{*} \right), \qquad (13)$$

$$\tilde{\Gamma}_{pnm}^{-} = \frac{1}{2} \left(t_{pn\uparrow}^* t_{pm\uparrow} - t_{pn\downarrow} t_{pm\downarrow}^* \right), \qquad (14)$$

$$\tilde{\Gamma}_{pnm}^{s+} = \frac{1}{2} \left(t_{pn\uparrow}^* t_{pm\downarrow}^* + t_{pn\downarrow} t_{pm\uparrow} \right), \tag{15}$$

$$\tilde{\Gamma}_{pnm}^{s-} = \frac{1}{2} \left(t_{pn\uparrow}^* t_{pm\downarrow}^* - t_{pn\downarrow} t_{pm\uparrow} \right), \qquad (16)$$

the kernel reads

$$\mathcal{T}_{nm}(\omega) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{kp} \left\{ \frac{i\omega \left(\tau_0 \tilde{\Gamma}_{pnm}^+ + \tau_3 \tilde{\Gamma}_{pnm}^-\right) - \xi_k \left(\tau_3 \tilde{\Gamma}_{pnm}^+ + \tau_0 \tilde{\Gamma}_{pnm}^-\right)}{\xi_k^2 + \Delta_p^2 + \omega^2} + \frac{\Delta_p \cos(\phi_p) \left(\tau_1 \tilde{\Gamma}_{pnm}^{s+} + i\tau_2 \tilde{\Gamma}_{pnm}^{s-}\right) - \Delta_p \sin(\phi_p) \left(\tau_2 \tilde{\Gamma}_{pnm}^{s+} - i\tau_1 \tilde{\Gamma}_{pnm}^{s-}\right)}{\xi_k^2 + \Delta_p^2 + \omega^2} \right\}.$$
(17)

We can integrate over ξ_k , and introducing v_0 the density of states at the Fermi energy, equal for both sides, we get

$$\mathcal{T}_{nm}(\omega) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{p} \frac{\pi \nu_{0}}{\sqrt{\omega^{2} + \Delta_{p}^{2}}} \Big\{ i\omega \big(\tau_{0} \tilde{\Gamma}_{pnm}^{+} + \tau_{3} \tilde{\Gamma}_{pnm}^{-} \big) + \Delta_{p} \cos(\phi_{p}) \big(\tau_{1} \tilde{\Gamma}_{pnm}^{s+} + i\tau_{2} \tilde{\Gamma}_{pnm}^{s-} \big) - \Delta_{p} \sin(\phi_{p}) \big(\tau_{2} \tilde{\Gamma}_{pnm}^{s+} - i\tau_{1} \tilde{\Gamma}_{pnm}^{s-} \big) \Big\}.$$

$$(18)$$

Defining, in the symmetric case, $\phi_L = -\phi_R = \phi/2$, $\Delta_L = \Delta_R = \Delta$, $t_{Rn\sigma} = t_{Ln\sigma} = t_{n\sigma}$ and

$$\Gamma_{nm}^{\pm} = 2\pi \nu_0 \tilde{\Gamma}_{Rnm}^{\pm} = 2\pi \nu_0 \tilde{\Gamma}_{Lnm}^{\pm}, \qquad (19)$$

$$\Gamma_{nm}^{s\pm} = 2\pi \nu_0 \tilde{\Gamma}_{Rnm}^{s\pm} = 2\pi \nu_0 \tilde{\Gamma}_{Lnm}^{s\pm} , \qquad (20)$$

summing over p = R, L, namely summing the right and left terms, we get

$$\mathcal{T}_{nm}(\omega) = \frac{1}{N} \frac{i\omega \left(\tau_0 \Gamma_{nm}^+ + \tau_3 \Gamma_{nm}^-\right)}{\sqrt{\omega^2 + \Delta^2}} + \frac{1}{N} \frac{\Delta \cos(\phi/2) \left(\tau_1 \Gamma_{nm}^{s+} + i\tau_2 \Gamma_{nm}^{s-}\right)}{\sqrt{\omega^2 + \Delta^2}}.$$
 (21)

Let us now make the reasonable assumption that $t_{n\sigma} = t_{m\sigma} = t_{\sigma}$ for any *n* and *m*, then we define $\Gamma_{nm}^+ \equiv \Gamma_0 J_{nm}$, $\Gamma_{nm}^- \equiv \Gamma_3 J_{nm}$, $\Gamma_{nm}^{s+} \equiv \Gamma_1 J_{nm}$ and $i\Gamma_{nm}^{s-} \equiv \Gamma_2 J_{nm}$, where *J* is a *N* × *N* unit matrix, a matrix consisting of all 1s

$$J = \left(\begin{array}{rrrrr} 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \end{array} \right).$$

Specifically

$$\Gamma_{0} = \pi \nu_{0} (|t_{\uparrow}|^{2} + |t_{\downarrow}|^{2}), \quad \Gamma_{3} = \pi \nu_{0} (|t_{\uparrow}|^{2} - |t_{\downarrow}|^{2}), \quad \Gamma_{1} = 2\pi \nu_{0} \operatorname{Re}[t_{\uparrow} t_{\downarrow}], \quad \Gamma_{2} = 2\pi \nu_{0} \operatorname{Im}[t_{\uparrow} t_{\downarrow}]. \quad (22)$$

For real values of $t_{pn\sigma}$ we have $\Gamma_2 = 0$. We can write, therefore,

$$\mathcal{T}(\omega) = \frac{1}{N} \left(\frac{i\omega\Gamma_0}{\sqrt{\omega^2 + \Delta^2}} \tau_0 + \frac{i\omega\Gamma_3}{\sqrt{\omega^2 + \Delta^2}} \tau_3 + \frac{\Gamma_1 \Delta \cos(\phi/2)}{\sqrt{\omega^2 + \Delta^2}} \tau_1 + \frac{\Gamma_2 \Delta \cos(\phi/2)}{\sqrt{\omega^2 + \Delta^2}} \tau_2 \right), \quad (23)$$

such that

$$\mathcal{T}_{nm}(\omega) = \mathcal{T}(\omega)J_{nm}.$$
(24)

Strictly, in order to take into account that the anomalous terms (proportional to τ_1 and τ_2) cannot have diagonal elements in the mode space which actually give zeros contributions in the action Eq. (12), we can use the following form

$$\mathcal{T}_{nm}'(\omega) = \mathcal{T}_{nm}(\omega) - \frac{1}{N} \left(\frac{\Gamma_1 \Delta \cos(\phi/2)}{\sqrt{\omega^2 + \Delta^2}} \tau_1 + \frac{\Gamma_2 \Delta \cos(\phi/2)}{\sqrt{\omega^2 + \Delta^2}} \tau_2 \right) \delta_{nm}.$$
(25)

Actually either Eq. (24) and Eq. (25) give the same action Eq. (12), while by using Eq. (25) instead of Eq. (24) one gets subleading irrelevant terms for the current in the large N limit (as shown in Appendix A), therefore, at leading orders, these expressions are equivalent.

Finally, let us discuss the role of the random fluctuations in the tunneling matrix. Let us suppose that $t_{n\sigma}$ are independent random variables whose distribution has σ_{σ} as standard deviation, then we can define $t_{\sigma} \equiv \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n} t_{n\sigma}$, the average value, providing that $t_{\sigma} \neq 0$, namely in the presence of a residual coherence which makes it non-vanishing, which is still a random variable with standard deviation of the mean $\bar{\sigma}_{\sigma} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \sigma_{\sigma}$. As a result the hybridization matrices fluctuate statistically as $\Gamma_{s,nm} \simeq \Gamma_s J_{nm} + \frac{\delta \Gamma_{nm}}{\sqrt{N}}$ with some random variables $\delta \Gamma_{nm}$ with zero average. Random fluctuations in the tunneling, therefore, can be neglected for large N, which is the limit we are interested in and where SYK models can be treated analytically. Actually the terms of order 1/N for uniform matrices are marginally relevant which leads to finite contributions also for $N \to \infty$, while higher order terms are subleading and vanish upon increasing N. Since we are going to consider $N \gg 1$, we can neglect the effects of these random fluctuations. At finite N instead, those effects should be taken into account, on the same footing of other sources of finite *N* corrections. The previous argument can be of some relevance in the presence of a residual coherence. However, as we will be seeing in Sec. 4.2, at least at the leading order in the tunneling parameters, the Josephson current will depend only on the absolute values of the tunneling amplitudes while the phase fluctuations are irrelevant, obtaining the same result as that for the uniform tunneling matrix, providing that the uniform amplitudes are $|t_{\sigma}|^2 = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n} |t_{n\sigma}|^2$.

Quite in general one can take somehow random fluctuations into account after defining the random distributions $P_{\sigma}(t_{\sigma})$ and getting the distributions for the transmission parameters as $\rho_s(\Gamma) = \int dt_{\uparrow} dt_{\downarrow} \delta(\Gamma - \Gamma_s(t_{\uparrow}, t_{\downarrow})) P_{\uparrow}(t_{\uparrow}) P_{\downarrow}(t_{\downarrow})$, where $\Gamma_s(t_{\uparrow}, t_{\downarrow})$ are defined above Eq. (23). In this way one can easily incorporate the randomness from the couplings between the dot and the leads, by integrating the observables (i.e. the Josephson current) over the Γ_s with weights ρ_s , as done in Ref. [38].

3 SYK₄ dot

The Hamiltonian of the dot is given by Eq. (4), where U_{ijnl} are complex, independent Gaussian random couplings with zero mean obeying $U_{ijnl} = -U_{jinl} = U_{ijln}$, $U_{ijnl} = U_{nlij}^*$ and mean value $\overline{|U_{ijnl}|^2} = U^2$. Introducing *r* replicas, a = 1, ..., r, labeling the field as d_{na} , we can average over disorder so that the action of the uncoupled dot can be written as follows

$$S'_{d} = \sum_{n,a} \int_{0}^{\beta} d\tau \, d^{\dagger}_{na}(\tau) (\partial_{\tau} - \mu) \, d_{na}(\tau) - \frac{U^{2}}{4N^{3}} \sum_{a,b} \int_{0}^{\beta} d\tau d\tau' \left| \sum_{n} d^{\dagger}_{na}(\tau) d_{nb}(\tau') \right|^{4} + S_{c} \,. \tag{26}$$

3.1 Effective action

We can decouple the interaction, in different channels, introducing a number of auxiliary fields, $e^{-S'_d} = \int D\{Q^0 P^0 Q^P P Q^{\Delta} \Delta\} e^{-S_d}$, getting

$$\begin{split} S_{d} &= \sum_{na} \int_{0}^{\beta} d\tau \, d_{na}^{\dagger}(\tau) (\partial_{\tau} - \mu) \, d_{na}(\tau) + \sum_{ab} \int_{0}^{\beta} d\tau d\tau' \Big[\frac{N}{4c_{0}U^{2}} [Q_{ab}^{0}(\tau, \tau')]^{2} + \frac{N^{3}}{4c_{1}U^{2}} |Q_{ab}^{P}(\tau, \tau')|^{2} \\ &+ \frac{N^{3}}{4c_{2}U^{2}} [Q_{ab}^{\Delta}(\tau, \tau')]^{2} + \frac{N}{2} Q_{ab}^{0}(\tau, \tau') |P_{0}^{ab}(\tau, \tau')|^{2} - Q_{ab}^{0}(\tau, \tau') P_{0}^{ab}(\tau, \tau') \sum_{n} d_{na}^{\dagger}(\tau) d_{nb}(\tau') \\ &+ \frac{1}{4} Q_{ab}^{P}(\tau, \tau') \sum_{nm} P_{nm}^{ab}(\tau, \tau') P_{mn}^{ab}(\tau, \tau') - \frac{1}{2} Q_{ab}^{P}(\tau, \tau') \sum_{nm} d_{na}^{\dagger}(\tau) P_{nm}^{ab}(\tau, \tau') d_{nb}(\tau') \\ &- \frac{1}{2} Q_{ab}^{P}(\tau, \tau') \sum_{nm} d_{ma}^{\dagger}(\tau) P_{mn}^{ab}(\tau, \tau') d_{nb}(\tau') + \frac{1}{2} Q_{ab}^{\Delta}(\tau, \tau') \sum_{nm} |\Delta_{nm}^{ab}(\tau, \tau') d_{nb}(\tau')|^{2} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} Q_{ab}^{\Delta}(\tau, \tau') \sum_{nm} d_{na}^{\dagger}(\tau) \Delta_{nm}^{ab}(\tau, \tau') d_{mb}^{\dagger}(\tau') - \frac{1}{2} Q_{ab}^{\Delta}(\tau, \tau') \sum_{nm} d_{ma}(\tau) \Delta_{nm}^{ab*}(\tau, \tau') d_{nb}(\tau') \Big] + S_{c} , \quad (27) \end{split}$$

where the weights c_0, c_1, c_2 are arbitrary positive real numbers such that $c_0 + c_1 + c_2 = 1$. The auxiliary fields are such that $Q_{ab}^{\Delta}(\tau, \tau')$ is real, $\Delta_{nm}^{ab}(\tau, \tau')$ is complex and $\Delta_{nm}^{ab}(\tau, \tau') = \Delta_{mn}^{ab}(\tau, \tau')$, while $Q_{ab}^{P}(\tau, \tau')$ is complex and $Q_{ab}^{P}(\tau, \tau') = Q_{ba}^{P*}(\tau', \tau)$ and $P_{nm}^{ab}(\tau, \tau') = P_{mn}^{ab}(\tau, \tau')$ can be taken real (it can be complex but only the real part matters), while $Q_{ab}^{0}(\tau, \tau') = Q_{ba}^{0}(\tau', \tau)$ is real and $P_{0}^{ab}(\tau, \tau') = P_{0}^{b*}(\tau', \tau)$ complex. Using the representation in Eq. (6), with replica indices, namely $\bar{D}_n^a = (d_{na}^{\dagger} d_{na})$ and $D_m^b = \begin{pmatrix} d_{mb} \\ d_{mb}^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix}$, we can write

$$S_{d} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{nmab} \int_{0}^{\beta} d\tau d\tau' \Big\{ \bar{D}_{n}^{a}(\tau) \Big[\delta_{\tau\tau'} \delta_{ab} \delta_{nm} (\tau_{0}\partial_{\tau} - \tau_{3}\mu) - \frac{1}{2} Q_{ab}^{0}(\tau,\tau') \delta_{nm} \left(P_{0}^{ab}(\tau,\tau')(\tau_{3} + \tau_{0}) + P_{0}^{ab*}(\tau,\tau')(\tau_{3} - \tau_{0}) \right) - \frac{1}{2} \Big(Q_{ab}^{p}(\tau,\tau') P_{nm}^{ab}(\tau,\tau')(\tau_{3} + \tau_{0}) + Q_{ba}^{p}(\tau',\tau) P_{nm}^{ba}(\tau',\tau)(\tau_{3} - \tau_{0}) \Big) \\ - \frac{1}{2} Q_{ab}^{\Delta}(\tau,\tau') \Big(\Delta_{nm}^{ab}(\tau,\tau')(\tau_{1} + i\tau_{2}) + \Delta_{nm}^{ab*}(\tau,\tau')(\tau_{1} - i\tau_{2}) \Big) \Big] D_{m}^{b}(\tau') \Big\} \\ + \sum_{ab} \int_{0}^{\beta} d\tau d\tau' \Big[\frac{N}{4U^{2}} \Big(\frac{1}{c_{0}} [Q_{ab}^{0}(\tau,\tau')]^{2} + \frac{N^{2}}{c_{1}} |Q_{ab}^{p}(\tau,\tau')|^{2} + \frac{N^{2}}{c_{2}} [Q_{ab}^{\Delta}(\tau,\tau')]^{2} \Big) \\ + \frac{N}{2} Q_{ab}^{0}(\tau,\tau') |P_{0}^{ab}(\tau,\tau')|^{2} + \frac{1}{4} Q_{ab}^{p}(\tau,\tau') \sum_{nm} (P_{nm}^{ab}(\tau,\tau'))^{2} + \frac{1}{2} Q_{ab}^{\Delta}(\tau,\tau') \sum_{nm} |\Delta_{nm}^{ab}(\tau,\tau')|^{2} \Big] + S_{c} \,.$$

$$(28)$$

We have to remind that the terms P_{nm} and Δ_{nm} , should be finite only for $n \neq m$. Let us now calculate the main contributions to the partition function, deriving the saddle point equations.

3.2 Saddle point equations

Imposing $\delta S_d = 0$ under varying the auxiliary fields we derive the following saddle point equations

$$P_0^{ab}(\tau,\tau') = -\frac{1}{2N} \sum_n \operatorname{Tr}\left(\langle D_n^b(\tau')\bar{D}_n^a(\tau)\rangle(\tau_3-\tau_0)\right),\tag{29}$$

$$P_0^{ba}(\tau',\tau) = -\frac{1}{2N} \sum_n \text{Tr}\left(\langle D_n^b(\tau') \bar{D}_n^a(\tau) \rangle(\tau_3 + \tau_0) \right),$$
(30)

$$P_{nm}^{ab}(\tau,\tau') = -\frac{1}{2} \text{Tr} \left(\langle D_m^b(\tau') \bar{D}_n^a(\tau) \rangle (\tau_3 + \tau_0) \right),$$
(31)

$$P_{mn}^{ba}(\tau',\tau) = -\frac{1}{2} \text{Tr}\left(\langle D_m^b(\tau') \bar{D}_n^a(\tau) \rangle(\tau_3 - \tau_0) \right),$$
(32)

$$\Delta_{nm}^{ab}(\tau,\tau') = -\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr}\left(\langle D_m^b(\tau')\bar{D}_n^a(\tau)\rangle(\tau_1 - i\tau_2)\right),\tag{33}$$

$$\Delta_{nm}^{ab*}(\tau,\tau') = -\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr}\left(\langle D_m^b(\tau')\bar{D}_n^a(\tau)\rangle(\tau_1 + i\tau_2)\right),\tag{34}$$

$$Q_{ab}^{0}(\tau,\tau') = -c_{0}U^{2} \Big\{ |P_{0}^{ba}(\tau',\tau)|^{2} + \frac{1}{2N} \sum_{n} \operatorname{Tr} \Big[\langle D_{n}^{b}(\tau')\bar{D}_{n}^{a}(\tau) \rangle \big((\tau_{3}+\tau_{0})P_{0}^{ab}(\tau,\tau') + (\tau_{3}-\tau_{0})P_{0}^{ab*}(\tau,\tau') \big) \Big] \Big\} = c_{0}U^{2} |P_{0}^{ba}(\tau',\tau)|^{2},$$
(35)

$$Q_{ab}^{P}(\tau,\tau') = -\frac{c_{1}U^{2}}{N^{3}} \Big\{ \sum_{nm} (P_{nm}^{ba}(\tau',\tau))^{2} + \sum_{nm} \operatorname{Tr} \big(\langle D_{m}^{b}(\tau')\bar{D}_{n}^{a}(\tau) \rangle (\tau_{3}-\tau_{0}) \big) P_{nm}^{ba}(\tau',\tau) \Big\}$$

$$= \frac{c_{1}U^{2}}{N^{3}} \sum_{nm} (P_{nm}^{ba}(\tau',\tau))^{2}, \qquad (36)$$

$$Q_{ba}^{P}(\tau',\tau) = -\frac{c_{1}U^{2}}{N^{3}} \Big\{ \sum_{nm} (P_{nm}^{ab}(\tau,\tau'))^{2} + \sum_{nm} \operatorname{Tr} \big(\langle D_{m}^{b}(\tau')\bar{D}_{n}^{a}(\tau) \rangle (\tau_{3}+\tau_{0}) \big) P_{nm}^{ab}(\tau,\tau') \Big\}$$

$$= \frac{c_{1}U^{2}}{N^{3}} \sum_{nm} (P_{nm}^{ab}(\tau,\tau'))^{2},$$
(37)

$$Q_{ab}^{\Delta}(\tau,\tau') = -\frac{c_2 U^2}{N^3} \Big\{ \sum_{nm} |\Delta_{nm}^{ba}(\tau',\tau)|^2 + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{nm} \text{Tr} \Big[\langle D_m^b(\tau') \bar{D}_n^a(\tau) \rangle \big((\tau_1 + i\tau_2) \Delta_{nm}^{ab}(\tau,\tau') + (\tau_1 - i\tau_2) \Delta_{nm}^{ab*}(\tau,\tau') \Big] \Big\} = \frac{c_2 U^2}{N^3} \sum_{nm} |\Delta_{nm}^{ba}(\tau',\tau)|^2.$$
(38)

Sci Post

We restrict our attention to replica diagonal solutions, $P_0^{ab}(\tau, \tau') = \delta_{ab}G_0(\tau, \tau')$, $P_{nm}^{ab}(\tau, \tau') = \delta_{ab}G_{nm}(\tau, \tau')$ and $\Delta_{nm}^{ab}(\tau, \tau') = \delta_{ab}F_{nm}(\tau, \tau') = \delta_{ab}F_{nm}^*(\tau' - \tau)$. We define

$$\mathbf{G}_{nm}(\tau,\tau') = \begin{pmatrix} -G_0(\tau',\tau)\delta_{nm} + G_{nm}(\tau,\tau') & F_{nm}^*(\tau,\tau') \\ F_{nm}(\tau,\tau') & G_0(\tau,\tau')\delta_{nm} - G_{mn}(\tau',\tau) \end{pmatrix},$$
(39)

and the self-energies

$$\Sigma(\tau, \tau') = - \begin{pmatrix} Q^0(\tau, \tau')G_0(\tau, \tau') & 0\\ 0 & -Q^0(\tau', \tau)G_0(\tau', \tau) \end{pmatrix},$$
(40)

$$L_{nm}(\tau,\tau') = -\begin{pmatrix} Q^{P}(\tau,\tau')G_{nm}(\tau,\tau') & 0\\ 0 & -Q^{P}(\tau',\tau)G_{mn}(\tau',\tau) \end{pmatrix},$$
 (41)

$$A_{nm}(\tau,\tau') = -\begin{pmatrix} 0 & Q^{\Delta}(\tau,\tau')F_{nm}(\tau,\tau') \\ Q^{\Delta}(\tau,\tau')F_{nm}^{*}(\tau,\tau') & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (42)

We can define

$$\mathcal{G}_{0}(\tau,\tau') = \begin{pmatrix} -G_{0}(\tau',\tau) & 0\\ 0 & G_{0}(\tau,\tau') \end{pmatrix},$$
(43)

$$\mathcal{G}_{nm}(\tau,\tau') = \begin{pmatrix} G_{nm}(\tau,\tau') & 0\\ 0 & -G_{mn}(\tau',\tau) \end{pmatrix}, \tag{44}$$

$$\mathcal{F}_{nm}(\tau,\tau') = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & F_{nm}^*(\tau,\tau') \\ F_{nm}(\tau,\tau') & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(45)

At the saddle point, from Eqs. (29)-(34), we have

$$\mathbf{G}_{nm}(\tau,\tau') = \mathcal{G}_0(\tau,\tau')\delta_{nm} + \mathcal{G}_{nm}(\tau,\tau') + \mathcal{F}_{nm}(\tau,\tau') = -\langle D_m(\tau')\bar{D}_n(\tau)\rangle, \quad (46)$$

which depends on the time difference $\bar{\tau} = \tau' - \tau \in [-\beta, \beta]$, namely $\mathbf{G}_{nm}(\tau, \tau') = \mathbf{G}_{nm}(\bar{\tau})$. In Fourier space the full matrix $\hat{\mathbf{G}}(\bar{\tau})$ in spinorial and in the multimodal spaces, including the tunneling contribution $\hat{\mathcal{T}}(\omega) = \mathcal{T}(\omega)J$, reads

$$\hat{\mathbf{G}}(\omega) = \left[\left(i\omega\tau_0 + \mu\tau_3 - \Sigma(\omega) \right) \hat{\mathbb{I}} + \hat{\mathcal{T}}(\omega) - \left(\hat{L}(\omega) + \hat{A}(\omega) \right) \right]^{-1}, \tag{47}$$

where, from Eqs. (35)-(38), the self-energies $\Sigma(\omega)$, $\hat{L}(\omega)$ and $\hat{A}(\omega)$ are the Fourier transforms of

$$\Sigma(\bar{\tau}) = c_0 U^2 \mathcal{G}_0(\bar{\tau})^2 \mathcal{G}_0(-\bar{\tau}) = -c_0 U^2 \begin{pmatrix} G_0(\bar{\tau})^2 G_0(-\bar{\tau}) & 0\\ 0 & -G_0(-\bar{\tau})^2 G_0(\bar{\tau}) \end{pmatrix},$$
(48)

and of $\hat{L}(\bar{\tau})$ and $\hat{A}(\bar{\tau})$, whose elements are

$$L_{nm}(\bar{\tau}) = -\frac{c_1 U^2}{N^3} \sum_{kl} \mathcal{G}_{kl}(-\bar{\tau})^2 \mathcal{G}_{nm}(\bar{\tau}) = -\frac{c_1 U^2}{N^3} \sum_{kl} \begin{pmatrix} G_{kl}(-\bar{\tau})^2 G_{nm}(\bar{\tau}) & 0\\ 0 & -G_{kl}(\bar{\tau})^2 G_{mn}(-\bar{\tau}) \end{pmatrix}, \quad (49)$$

$$A_{nm}(\bar{\tau}) = -\frac{c_2 U^2}{N^3} \sum_{kl} \mathcal{F}_{kl}(\bar{\tau})^2 \mathcal{F}_{nm}(\bar{\tau}) = -\frac{c_2 U^2}{N^3} \sum_{kl} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & |F_{kl}(\bar{\tau})|^2 F_{nm}(\bar{\tau}) \\ |F_{kl}(\bar{\tau})|^2 F_{nm}^*(\bar{\tau}) & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (50)

One has to solve self-consistently Eqs. (47)-(50), fixing then c_0, c_1, c_2 , with constraint $c_0 + c_1 + c_2 = 1$, by minimizing the action at the saddle point. However what we found is that, if G_{nm} and $F_{mn} \sim 1/N^{\delta}$ with $\delta > 0$, the self-energies \hat{L} and \hat{A} can be neglected in the large *N* limit. As we will see in Section 4.4, this seems to be the case.

4 Josephson current

As shown in the previous section, the self energies induced by he coupling can be neglected in the large N limit. In such approximation the Green's function of the dot can be written as

$$\mathcal{G}_{nm}^{-1} = \mathcal{G}_0^{-1} \delta_{nm} + \mathcal{T} J_{nm} \,, \tag{51}$$

where \mathcal{G}_0 is the Green's function of the uncoupled dot, solution of the equations

$$\mathcal{G}_0^{-1}(\omega) = i\omega\tau_0 + \mu\tau_3 - \Sigma(\omega), \qquad (52)$$

$$\Sigma(\tau) = U^2 \mathcal{G}_0(\tau)^2 \mathcal{G}_0(-\tau).$$
⁽⁵³⁾

Actually if we include \mathcal{T} or \mathcal{T}' in Eq. (52) we have just subleading corrections of order O(1/N) in the diagonal self-energy $\Sigma(\omega)$, which can be neglected. Let us write the self-energy in the following form

$$\Sigma(\omega) = \Sigma_0(\omega)\tau_0 + \Sigma_3(\omega)\tau_3, \qquad (54)$$

so that we can write

$$\mathcal{G}_0^{-1}(\omega) = \tilde{G}_0^{-1}(\omega)\tau_0 + \tilde{G}_3^{-1}(\omega)\tau_3 \equiv \left(i\omega - \Sigma_0(\omega)\right)\tau_0 + \left(\mu - \Sigma_3(\omega)\right)\tau_3.$$
(55)

Actually, from Eq. (43), defining

$$G_{0}(\omega) = \frac{1}{2} \int d\tau \, e^{i\omega\tau} \big(G_{0}(\tau) - G_{0}(-\tau) \big), \qquad G_{3}(\omega) = \frac{1}{2} \int d\tau \, e^{i\omega\tau} \big(G_{0}(\tau) + G_{0}(-\tau) \big), \quad (56)$$

we have that

$$\tilde{G}_0^{-1}(\omega) = \frac{G_0(\omega)}{G_0(\omega)^2 - G_3(\omega)^2}, \qquad \tilde{G}_3^{-1}(\omega) = \frac{G_3(\omega)}{G_3(\omega)^2 - G_0(\omega)^2}.$$
(57)

The Josephson current can be obtain from the phase derivative of the free energy

$$I = -\frac{1}{\beta} \partial_{\phi} \sum_{\omega} \ln\left(\det[\mathcal{G}^{-1}(\omega)]\right), \qquad (58)$$

where $\beta = 1/T$ is the inverse of the temperature and the determinant of $\mathcal{G}^{-1}(\omega)$, from Eq. (51), is given by

$$\det[\mathcal{G}^{-1}] = \left(\det[\mathcal{G}_0^{-1}]\right)^N \left(1 + N\operatorname{Tr}[\mathcal{T}\mathcal{G}_0] + N^2 \frac{\det[\mathcal{T}]}{\det[\mathcal{G}_0^{-1}]}\right),\tag{59}$$

from which, using det[\mathcal{G}_0^{-1}] = $(\tilde{\mathcal{G}}_0^{-1})^2 - (\tilde{\mathcal{G}}_3^{-1})^2$, we get the following expression

$$\det[\mathcal{G}^{-1}] = \left(\det[\mathcal{G}_0^{-1}]\right)^{N-1}$$

$$\times \left[\left(\tilde{G}_0^{-1}(\omega) + \frac{i\omega\,\Gamma_0}{\sqrt{\omega^2 + \Delta^2}} \right)^2 - \frac{(\Gamma_1^2 + \Gamma_2^2)\,\Delta^2\cos^2(\phi/2)}{\omega^2 + \Delta^2} - \left(\tilde{G}_3^{-1}(\omega) - \frac{i\omega\,\Gamma_3}{\sqrt{\omega^2 + \Delta^2}} \right)^2 \right].$$
(60)

We observe that, since

$$\Gamma^{2} \equiv \Gamma_{1}^{2} + \Gamma_{2}^{2} = 4\pi^{2} \nu_{0}^{2} \left| t_{\uparrow} t_{\downarrow} \right|^{2}, \qquad (61)$$

the coupling is finite for finite values of both t_{\uparrow} and t_{\downarrow} , namely there should be finite values of both spin projections, therefore also spin-flip processes in the presence of strongly polarized fermions in the dot, in order to have a non-vanishing Josephson current.

From Eq. (58) we finally obtain the Josephson current

$$I = \frac{\sin(\phi)}{\beta} \sum_{\omega} \frac{\Gamma^2 \Delta^2}{\Gamma^2 \Delta^2 \cos^2(\phi/2) - \left(\tilde{G}_0^{-1}(\omega)\sqrt{\omega^2 + \Delta^2} + i\omega\Gamma_0\right)^2 + \left(\tilde{G}_3^{-1}(\omega)\sqrt{\omega^2 + \Delta^2} - i\omega\Gamma_3\right)^2}.$$
 (62)

By numerically solving Eqs. (52), (53), using Eqs. (54), (55), one gets the Josephson current for the SYK dot from Eq. (62). As a remark we point out that, using Eq. (25) instead of Eq. (24), we get the same expression for the current with subleading terms of order O(1/N) (see Appendix A). The same observation is valid if we want to improve the bare SYK solution including 1/N corrections. Actually If we include those corrections in the bare Green's function, the phase independent part of the free energy acquires a term of order O(1) but does not contribute to the Josephson current since it is phase independent, while the phase dependent part, which is O(1), and therefore, the Josephson current, acquires trivially a term O(1/N), which is subleading and vanishes for large N. As a result, the Josephson current remains the same in the large N limit.

4.1 Large interaction limit

In the so-called conformal limit, namely for very large U, i.e. for $|\omega| \ll U$, the analytical solution of Eqs. (52) and (53), obtained for $\Sigma_3(0) = \mu$, implying $G_3(0) = 0$ and $\tilde{G}_0 = G_0$, and for $T \to 0$, is given by [1,5,16]

$$G_0^{-1}(\omega) = iC\operatorname{sgn}(\omega)|\omega|^{1/2}, \qquad (63)$$

with $C = (U^2/\pi)^{1/4}$, solution of the equations $G_0^{-1}(\omega) = -\Sigma_0(\omega)$ and $\Sigma_0(\tau) = -U^2 G_0(\tau)^2 G_0(-\tau)$. The Josephson current, Eq. (62), for $T \to 0$, in the continuum, becomes

$$I = \frac{\Gamma^2 \Delta^2}{\pi} \sin(\phi) \int_0^\infty \frac{d\omega}{\Gamma^2 \Delta^2 \cos^2(\phi/2) + \left(C\sqrt{\omega(\omega^2 + \Delta^2)} + \omega\Gamma_0\right)^2 - \omega^2\Gamma_3^2}.$$
 (64)

The term $\omega^2 \Gamma_3^2$ does not lead to any singularity since $\Gamma_0^2 - \Gamma_3^2 = 4\pi^2 v_0^2 |t_{\uparrow} t_{\downarrow}|^2$ which is exactly equal to Γ^2 , Eq. (61), and is positive defined. This equation, for $U \gg \Gamma$, can be well approximated by

$$I \simeq \frac{\Gamma^2}{\pi} \sin(\phi) \int_0^\Delta \frac{d\omega}{\Gamma^2 \cos^2(\phi/2) + C^2 \omega},$$
(65)

getting the following analytical result

$$I \simeq \frac{\Gamma^2}{\pi C^2} \sin(\phi) \ln\left(1 + \frac{C^2 \Delta}{\Gamma^2 \cos^2(\phi/2)}\right).$$
(66)

For $U\Delta \gg \Gamma^2$, the current *I* drops the dependence on Δ , except for logarithmic corrections,

$$I \simeq \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} \frac{\Gamma^2}{U} \sin(\phi) \ln\left(\frac{U\Delta}{\sqrt{\pi} \Gamma^2 \cos^2(\phi/2)}\right),\tag{67}$$

namely, we get a universal behavior, $I \sim \ln(\tilde{U})/\tilde{U}$, with $\tilde{U} = U/\Gamma^2$, that is valid for all BCS-like superconductors. Quite interestingly a very similar result for the Josephson current reported in Eq. (67), had been obtained for a disordered Josephson junction in the so-called ergodic regime with long dwell time, namely when the ergotic time is small compare to Δ^{-1} and the Thouless energy scale E_T is such that $E_T \ll \Delta$ [37]. In our case Γ^2/U plays the role of E_T , or alternatively U/Γ^2 the role of the dwell time, so that a large interaction U corresponds to a large diffusion time in the dot. We remind that, contrary to the case reported in Ref. [37], where the dot is



a cavity weakly linked to the superconducting leads and the coupling with the leads involves few modes of the dot, in the present paper we considered a dot fully contacted to the leads, namely all the modes contribute to the coupling. The long dwell time in Ref. [37] is due to the diffusion of the particles in the cavity while, in our case, it is due to strong correlations which produces such a sort of self-trapping phenomenon. Moreover the anomalous self-energy plays a crucial role in Ref. [37], while in our case this term is negligible for large N because of the uniform coupling.

Perturbative analysis: Before we proceed, let us reconsider the previous case by expanding the free energy for small tunneling parameters Γ_{α} , with $\alpha = 0, 1, 2, 3$. From Eq. (59), expanding in terms of Γ_{α} , we have

$$\ln\left(\det[\mathcal{G}^{-1}]\right) = N \ln\left(\det[\mathcal{G}_{0}^{-1}]\right) + \ln\left(1 + N \operatorname{Tr}[\mathcal{T}\mathcal{G}_{0}] + N^{2} \frac{\det[\mathcal{T}]}{\det[\mathcal{G}_{0}^{-1}]}\right)$$

$$= N \ln\left(\det[\mathcal{G}_{0}^{-1}]\right) + N \operatorname{Tr}[\mathcal{T}\mathcal{G}_{0}] + N^{2} \frac{\det[\mathcal{T}]}{\det[\mathcal{G}_{0}^{-1}]} - \frac{1}{2}N^{2} \left(\operatorname{Tr}[\mathcal{T}\mathcal{G}_{0}]\right)^{2} + o(\Gamma_{\alpha}^{2}),$$
(68)

where \mathcal{T} is given by Eq. (23) and the bare Green's function is simply $\mathcal{G}_0 = G_0 \tau_0$, as before. As a result we have

$$\ln\left(\det[\mathcal{G}^{-1}]\right) = -2N\ln(G_0) + \frac{2iG_0\omega\Gamma_0}{\sqrt{\omega^2 + \Delta^2}} + \frac{G_0^2}{\omega^2 + \Delta^2} \left[(\Gamma_0^2 + \Gamma_3^2)\omega^2 - \Gamma^2\Delta^2\cos^2(\phi/2) \right] + o(\Gamma_\alpha^2), \quad (69)$$

where Γ^2 is given by Eq. (61). The Josephson current, Eq. (58), at the leading order in the tunneling parameters, then, reads

$$I = -\frac{\Gamma^2 \Delta^2}{\beta} \sin(\phi) \sum_{\omega} \frac{G_0(\omega)^2}{\omega^2 + \Delta^2} + o(\Gamma_\alpha^2), \qquad (70)$$

which can be obtained also expanding Eq. (62). At zero temperature, in the continuum, and in the conformal limit, using Eq. (63), we have

$$I \simeq \frac{\Gamma^2 \Delta^2}{\sqrt{\pi}U} \sin(\phi) \int_{\lambda}^{\infty} \frac{d\omega}{\omega(\omega^2 + \Delta^2)} \simeq \frac{\Gamma^2}{\sqrt{\pi}U} \sin(\phi) \ln\left(\frac{\Delta}{\lambda}\right), \tag{71}$$

where we introduced a positive infrared cut-off λ to guarantee the convergence of the integral. Quite interestingly Eq. (71) has the same form of Eq. (67), with $\lambda \propto \Gamma^2/U$. Actually, from first principles, λ has to be a function of the the prefactor Γ^2/U and viceversa, in such a way that when $\lambda \to 0$ also $\Gamma^2/U \to 0$, getting a vanishing current. Conversely, if λ and Γ^2/U were independent, there would be a possibility to reduce λ getting absurdly an arbitrary large current at fixed, even weak, tunneling parameter or strong interaction. This dependence agrees with the fact that the tunneling and the spectral properties are related.

What we learned is that the leading order in the tunneling parameters is enough to catch the logarithmic form of the Josephson current in our system, also because the strong interaction limit is equivalent to the weak tunneling regime, $U \gg \Gamma$, validating the perturbative expansion.

4.2 Random couplings

Let us now introduce random fluctuations in the tunneling amplitudes, relaxing the uniform form for the tunneling matrix T_{nm} .

Random phases: We will consider first the case where random phases occur

$$t_{n\sigma} = |t_{\sigma}| e^{i\theta_n^{\sigma}}, \tag{72}$$

where $\sigma = \uparrow, \downarrow$ and θ_n^{σ} can be a random angle depending on the orbital index of the SYK dot. Let us now redo the expansion for the free energy in the presence of a more general matrix \mathcal{T}_{nm} . Let us write

$$\mathcal{G}^{-1} = \mathcal{G}_0^{-1} \mathbb{I} + \hat{\mathcal{T}}, \tag{73}$$

with \hat{T} a matrix whose elements are T_{nm} reported in Eq. (21), where, now, from Eqs. (13)-(16), (19), (20), and (72),

$$\Gamma_{nm}^{+} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\Gamma^{\uparrow} e^{-i(\theta_{n}^{\uparrow} - \theta_{m}^{\uparrow})} + \Gamma^{\downarrow} e^{i(\theta_{n}^{\downarrow} - \theta_{m}^{\downarrow})} \right), \tag{74}$$

$$\Gamma_{nm}^{-} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\Gamma^{\uparrow} e^{-i(\theta_{n}^{\uparrow} - \theta_{m}^{\uparrow})} - \Gamma^{\downarrow} e^{i(\theta_{n}^{\downarrow} - \theta_{m}^{\downarrow})} \right), \tag{75}$$

$$\Gamma_{nm}^{s+} = \frac{\Gamma}{2} \left(e^{-i(\theta_n^{\uparrow} + \theta_m^{\downarrow})} + e^{i(\theta_n^{\downarrow} + \theta_m^{\uparrow})} \right), \tag{76}$$

$$\Gamma_{nm}^{s-} = \frac{\Gamma}{2} \left(e^{-i(\theta_n^{\uparrow} + \theta_m^{\downarrow})} - e^{i(\theta_n^{\downarrow} + \theta_m^{\uparrow})} \right), \tag{77}$$

with

$$\Gamma^{\uparrow} = 2\pi \nu_0 \left| t_{\uparrow} \right|^2, \qquad \Gamma^{\downarrow} = 2\pi \nu_0 \left| t_{\downarrow} \right|^2, \qquad \Gamma = 2\pi \nu_0 \left| t_{\uparrow} t_{\downarrow} \right|, \tag{78}$$

noticing that $\Gamma^2 = \Gamma^{\uparrow} \Gamma^{\downarrow}$. The free energy, apart from $-\beta^{-1}$ and frequency summation, then reads

$$\ln\left(\det[\mathcal{G}^{-1}]\right) = N\ln\left(\det[\mathcal{G}_{0}^{-1}]\right) + \operatorname{Tr}\ln\left(\mathbb{I} + \mathcal{G}_{0}\hat{\mathcal{T}}\right).$$
(79)

Expanding Eq. (79) in terms of the tunneling matrix, we obtain

$$\ln\left(\det[\mathcal{G}^{-1}]\right) = -2N\ln(G_0) + \sum_n \operatorname{Tr}(G_0\mathcal{T}_{nn}) - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{nm} \operatorname{Tr}(G_0\mathcal{T}_{nm}G_0\mathcal{T}_{mn}) + o(\mathcal{T}^2).$$
(80)

Let us consider the terms separately. The first order term is given by

$$\sum_{n} \operatorname{Tr}(G_0 \mathcal{T}_{nn}) = \frac{i G_0 \omega}{\sqrt{\omega^2 + \Delta^2}} (\Gamma^{\uparrow} + \Gamma^{\downarrow}) = \frac{2i G_0 \omega \Gamma_0}{\sqrt{\omega^2 + \Delta^2}},$$
(81)

which is exactly the same as that appearing in Eq. (69), since $\Gamma_0 = (\Gamma^{\uparrow} + \Gamma^{\downarrow})/2$, from Eq. (22). The second order term is the one relevant for the Josephson current

$$-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{nm} \operatorname{Tr} \left(G_0 \mathcal{T}_{nm} G_0 \mathcal{T}_{mn} \right) = \frac{1}{N^2} \frac{G_0^2}{\omega^2 + \Delta^2} \sum_{nm} \left[\omega^2 \left(\Gamma_{nm}^+ \Gamma_{mn}^+ + \Gamma_{nm}^- \Gamma_{mn}^- \right) - \Delta^2 \cos^2(\phi/2) \left(\Gamma_{nm}^{s+} \Gamma_{mn}^{s+} - \Gamma_{nm}^{s-} \Gamma_{mn}^{s-} \right) \right].$$
(82)

From Eqs. (74)-(77) we have

$$\Gamma_{nm}^{\pm}\Gamma_{mn}^{\pm} = \frac{1}{4} \left[\Gamma^{\uparrow 2} + \Gamma^{\downarrow 2} \pm 2\Gamma^{\uparrow}\Gamma^{\downarrow}\cos(\theta_{m}^{\uparrow} - \theta_{n}^{\uparrow} + \theta_{m}^{\downarrow} - \theta_{n}^{\downarrow}) \right],$$
(83)

$$\Gamma_{nm}^{s\pm}\Gamma_{mn}^{s\pm} = \frac{\Gamma^2}{2} \left[\cos(\theta_m^{\uparrow} + \theta_n^{\uparrow} + \theta_m^{\downarrow} + \theta_n^{\downarrow}) \pm 1 \right].$$
(84)

Therefore, intriguingly, in the combinations entering Eq. (82)

$$\Gamma_{nm}^{+}\Gamma_{mn}^{+} + \Gamma_{nm}^{-}\Gamma_{mn}^{-} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\Gamma^{\uparrow 2} + \Gamma^{\downarrow 2} \right) = \Gamma_{0}^{2} + \Gamma_{3}^{2},$$
(85)

$$\Gamma_{nm}^{s+}\Gamma_{mn}^{s+} - \Gamma_{nm}^{s-}\Gamma_{mn}^{s-} = \Gamma^2,$$
(86)

SciPost Phys. 17, 120 (2024)

the phase dependence cancels out completely. As a result the second order term simplifies as follows

$$-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{nm} \operatorname{Tr}(G_0 \mathcal{T}_{nm} G_0 \mathcal{T}_{mn}) = \frac{G_0^2}{\omega^2 + \Delta^2} \left[\left(\Gamma_0^2 + \Gamma_3^2 \right) \omega^2 - \Gamma^2 \Delta^2 \cos^2(\phi/2) \right], \quad (87)$$

which is the same term appearing in Eq. (69), therefore, the Josephson current is also exactly the same as that reported in Eq. (71). In conclusion, replacing Eqs. (81) and (87) in Eq. (80) we get the same free energy obtained for a uniform phase, Eq. (69), and, then, the same current.

We proved, therefore, that, at least up to second order in the tunneling parameters, the random phases in the tunneling amplitudes do not play any role. At the same time we showed that the second order term is enough to derive the logarithmic form of the Josephson current, therefore the result in Eq. (71) is robust against random phase fluctuations.

Fully random couplings: Let us consider $t_{n\sigma}$ fully random variables so that the tunneling matrix has random entries \mathcal{T}_{nm} , Eq. (21), with tunneling parameters written in Eqs. (13)-(16), (19), (20), where we will drop the right-left index p, since we will consider symmetric contacts. Now let us consider once again the expansion of the free energy, which, up to second order in the tunneling parameters is given by Eq. (80). In this case the first order term reads

$$\sum_{n} \operatorname{Tr}(G_0 \mathcal{T}_{nn}) = \frac{iG_0 \omega}{\sqrt{\omega^2 + \Delta^2}} \frac{2\pi \nu_0}{N} \sum_{n} (\left| t_{n\uparrow} \right|^2 + \left| t_{n\downarrow} \right|^2) \equiv \frac{iG_0 \omega}{\sqrt{\omega^2 + \Delta^2}} (\bar{\Gamma}^{\uparrow} + \bar{\Gamma}^{\downarrow}), \quad (88)$$

where we defined, analogously to Eq. (78), the following positive real quantities

$$\bar{\Gamma}^{\uparrow} = 2\pi \nu_0 \frac{1}{N} \sum_n \left| t_{n\uparrow} \right|^2, \qquad \bar{\Gamma}^{\downarrow} = 2\pi \nu_0 \frac{1}{N} \sum_n \left| t_{n\downarrow} \right|^2, \qquad \bar{\Gamma}^2 = \bar{\Gamma}^{\uparrow} \bar{\Gamma}^{\downarrow}.$$
(89)

The second order term is given by Eq. (82) where now, from Eqs. (13)-(16), (19), (20), we have

$$\Gamma_{nm}^{+}\Gamma_{mn}^{+} + \Gamma_{nm}^{-}\Gamma_{mn}^{-} = 2\pi^{2}\nu_{0}^{2} \left(\left| t_{n\uparrow}t_{m\uparrow} \right|^{2} + \left| t_{n\downarrow}t_{m\downarrow} \right|^{2} \right),$$
(90)

$$\Gamma_{nm}^{s+}\Gamma_{mn}^{s+} - \Gamma_{nm}^{s-}\Gamma_{mn}^{s-} = 2\pi^2 \nu_0^2 \left(\left| t_{n\downarrow} t_{m\uparrow} \right|^2 + \left| t_{n\uparrow} t_{m\downarrow} \right|^2 \right).$$
(91)

As a result, under the double sum, for the second order term, using Eq. (89), we have

$$-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{nm}\operatorname{Tr}(G_0\mathcal{T}_{nm}G_0\mathcal{T}_{mn}) = \frac{G_0^2}{\omega^2 + \Delta^2} \left[\frac{1}{2}(\bar{\Gamma}^{\uparrow 2} + \bar{\Gamma}^{\downarrow 2})\omega^2 - \bar{\Gamma}^2\Delta^2\cos^2(\phi/2)\right].$$
(92)

As a consequence the Josephson current is the same as in the uniform case, Eq. (71), where we replace $\Gamma \rightarrow \overline{\Gamma}$, namely $\Gamma^{\sigma} \rightarrow \overline{\Gamma}^{\sigma}$, or equivalently defining

$$|t_{\sigma}|^{2} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n} |t_{n\sigma}|^{2}.$$
(93)

In conclusion, the Josephson current has exactly the same form for either uniform and completely random tunneling matrix, at least up to second order in the tunneling parameters, providing the equivalence given in Eq. (93).

This analysis shows that randomness in the dot-to-leads couplings does not spoil the current and justifies our choice of a simple uniform tunneling matrix which allowed us to perform an analytical calculation of the full Josephson current at any order.

4.3 Finite temperature

At finite temperature, the analytical solution Eq. (63) becomes [1, 5, 16]

$$G_0^{-1}(\omega) = iC\sqrt{2\pi T} e^{i\theta} \frac{\Gamma(3/4 + \omega/2\pi T + i\epsilon)}{\Gamma(1/4 + \omega/2\pi T + i\epsilon)},$$
(94)

where $\Gamma(x)$ is the Gamma function, $C = (U^2 \cos(2\theta)/\pi)^{1/4}$, while θ and ϵ are linked by $e^{2\pi\epsilon} = \sin(\pi/4 + \theta)/\sin(\pi/4 - \theta)$, and $G_0(\tau = 0^-) = 1/2 - \theta/\pi - \sin(2\theta)/4$. Let us fix the density of particles at half-filling, $\theta = 0$, $\epsilon = 0$. Defining

$$g_{\omega} = i \, \Gamma G_0(\omega), \tag{95}$$

from Eq. (62), in the case $UT \gg \Gamma^2$, the Josephson current becomes

$$I \simeq \frac{\Delta^2}{\beta} \sin(\phi) \sum_{\omega} \frac{g_{\omega}^2}{\omega^2 + g_{\omega}^2 \Delta^2 \cos^2(\phi/2) + \Delta^2}.$$
 (96)

The Green's function $G_0(\omega)$ is cut-offed by $1/\sqrt{T}$ at low frequency. We approximate, therefore, $g_\omega \approx g_0$ in Eq. (96) and, after summing over the Matsubara frequencies, we get

$$I \simeq \frac{\Delta}{2\alpha} \sin(\phi) g_0^2 \frac{\tanh\left(\frac{\beta}{2}\Delta\sqrt{1 + g_0^2 \cos^2(\phi/2)}\right)}{\sqrt{1 + g_0^2 \cos^2(\phi/2)}},$$
(97)

which is a function of the temperature $T = 1/\beta$, and of the interaction *U* since $g_0 = r\Gamma/\sqrt{UT}$, with *r* a numerical coefficient, $r = \Gamma(1/4)/(\sqrt{2}\pi^{1/4}\Gamma(3/4))$. We find numerically that Eq. (96) is better approximated by the same expression where g_{ω} is replaced by g_0 if we include an overall factor $\alpha \approx 5.6$. Since $g_0^2 \ll 1$, calling $c = r^2/(2\alpha)$ the numerical coefficient, we have

$$I \simeq c \frac{\Gamma^2 \Delta}{UT} \sin(\phi) \tanh\left(\frac{\Delta}{2T}\right).$$
(98)

Therefore, for large temperature, $T \gg \Delta$, it reads

$$I \simeq \frac{c}{2} \frac{\Gamma^2 \Delta^2}{U T^2} \sin(\phi), \qquad (99)$$

namely, approaching the superconductive critical temperature T_c , it vanishes as $\frac{\Delta^2}{T^2} \propto \frac{T_c(T_c-T)}{T_c^2}$.

On the contrary, in the intermediate regime with small enough temperatures, specifically for $\Delta \gg T \gg \Gamma^2/U$, we can approximate the hyperbolic tangent by one, getting a 1/T decay

$$I \simeq \frac{\Delta}{2\alpha} \sin(\phi) \frac{g_0^2}{\sqrt{1 + g_0^2 \cos^2(\phi/2)}} \simeq c \frac{\Gamma^2 \Delta}{U T} \sin(\phi).$$
(100)

For $UT \ll \Gamma^2$ ($g_0 \gg 1$), instead, we have to distinguish two regions in frequency space, with $|\omega| < \Lambda_T$ and $|\omega| > \Lambda_T$, where $\Lambda_T \sim T$ is an energy cut-off below which $g_{\omega} \sim g_0$ while above $g_{\omega} \sim C^{-1} \text{sgn}(\omega) |\omega|^{-1/2}$, as for the zero temperature limit. We have, therefore, the following expression

$$I \simeq \frac{1}{\beta} \sin(\phi) \left\{ \sum_{|\omega| < \Lambda_T} \frac{\Delta^2}{\omega^2 + \Delta^2 \cos^2(\phi/2) + g_0^{-2} \Delta^2} + \sum_{\Delta > |\omega| > \Lambda_T} \frac{\Gamma^2}{\Gamma^2 \cos^2(\phi/2) + g_\omega^{-2}} \right\}.$$
 (101)

Since $T \ll 1$ we can use the integrals, $\frac{1}{\beta} \sum_{\omega} \rightarrow \int \frac{d\omega}{2\pi}$, getting

$$I \simeq \frac{\Delta}{\pi} \sin(\phi) g_0 \frac{\arctan\left(\frac{g_0 \Lambda_T}{\sqrt{1 + g_0^2 \cos^2(\phi/2)}}\right)}{\sqrt{1 + g_0^2 \cos^2(\phi/2)}} + \frac{\Gamma^2}{\pi C^2} \sin(\phi) \ln\left(\frac{\Gamma^2 \cos^2(\phi/2) + C^2 \Delta}{\Gamma^2 \cos^2(\phi/2) + C^2 \Lambda_T}\right).$$
(102)

4.4 Proximity effect

Let us discuss, now, how the dot is affected by the presence of the superconducting leads and check whether we can neglect the self-energy corrections in the large N limit. We will focus in particular on the hybridization of the dot due to the superconducting pairing, considering the following tunneling matrix, neglecting, for simplicity, the term proportional to τ_0 ,

$$\hat{\mathcal{T}}(\omega) \simeq \frac{1}{N} \mathcal{T}_1(\omega) \,\tau_1 J \equiv \frac{\Gamma \Delta \cos(\phi/2)}{N \sqrt{\omega^2 + \Delta^2}} \,\tau_1 J \,. \tag{103}$$

We make the following ansatz for the anomalous contribution to the self-energy: $A\tau_1 J$. The Green's function, then, reads

$$\mathcal{G}_{nm}^{-1} \simeq G_0^{-1} \tau_0 \,\delta_{nm} + \left(\frac{1}{N} \mathcal{T}_1(\omega) - A\right) \tau_1 J_{nm} \,. \tag{104}$$

From Eq. (33), we have the following effective equal-time pairing between two generic modes $n \neq m$

$$F \equiv F_{nm}(\tau,\tau) = \frac{1}{\beta} \sum_{\omega} \operatorname{Tr} \big(\mathcal{G}(\omega) \tau_1 \big)_{nm},$$
(105)

and, therefore, from Eq. (50), we will have, consistently,

$$A = -\frac{U^2 F^3}{N} \,. \tag{106}$$

At low temperature the sum in Eq. (105) becomes an integral, which reads

$$F = \int_{-\Lambda}^{\Lambda} \frac{d\omega}{2\pi} \frac{\mathcal{T}_1(\omega)/N - A}{N^2 (\mathcal{T}_1(\omega)/N - A)^2 - G_0^{-2}},$$
(107)

and, using Eqs. (63), (103) and (106),

$$F = \frac{1}{N} \int_{-\Lambda}^{\Lambda} \frac{d\omega}{2\pi} \frac{\Gamma\Delta\cos(\phi/2)\sqrt{\omega^2 + \Delta^2} + U^2 F^3(\omega^2 + \Delta^2)}{\left(\Gamma\Delta\cos(\phi/2) + U^2 F^3\sqrt{\omega^2 + \Delta^2}\right)^2 + C^2|\omega|(\omega^2 + \Delta^2)},$$
(108)

where we introduced a cut-off since $\omega \ll U$ for the expression of G_0 to be valid, therefore we can take $\Lambda \sim U$.

For large U and for large but still finite N such that $U^2 F^3 \gg \Gamma$, we can approximate Eq. (107) getting

$$F \simeq \frac{1}{N} \int_0^{\Lambda} \frac{d\omega}{\pi} \frac{U^2 F^3}{(U^4 F^6 + C^2 \omega)} = \frac{U^2 F^3}{\pi N C^2} \ln\left(1 + \frac{C^2 \Lambda}{U^4 F^6}\right),$$
(109)

which has to be solved in terms of *F*. For $U^4 F^6 \gg C^2 \Lambda \sim U^2$, we get, for *F* and *A*, the following results

$$F \approx \left(\frac{\Lambda}{N\pi U^2}\right)^{1/4}, \qquad A \approx -\frac{U^{2/3}}{N} \left(\frac{\Lambda}{N\pi}\right)^{3/4}.$$
 (110)

We found that the pairing is super-extensive, meaning that a single particle in the dot is paired with all the other particles in such a way that NF is not O(1) but $O(N^{3/4})$.

We expect that $U^2 F^3$ becomes irrelevant upon further increasing *N*, therefore Eq. (107) becomes

$$F = \frac{1}{N} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d\omega}{2\pi} \frac{\Gamma \Delta \cos(\phi/2) \sqrt{\omega^2 + \Delta^2}}{\Gamma^2 \Delta^2 \cos^2(\phi/2) + C^2 |\omega| (\omega^2 + \Delta^2)},$$
(111)

which can be approximated by

$$F \simeq \frac{\Gamma \Delta^2}{N\pi} \cos(\phi/2) \int_0^{\Lambda} \frac{d\omega}{\Gamma^2 \Delta^2 \cos^2(\phi/2) + C^2 \Delta^2 \omega} \simeq \frac{1}{N} \frac{\Gamma}{\pi C^2} \cos(\phi/2) \ln\left(1 + \frac{C^2 \Lambda}{\Gamma^2 \cos^2(\phi/2)}\right), \quad (112)$$

where now $\Lambda \sim \max(\Delta, \Gamma \cos(\phi/2))$. Therefore we have

$$F \sim \frac{1}{N} \frac{\Gamma}{U} \cos(\phi/2) \ln\left(\frac{U}{\Gamma \cos^2(\phi/2)}\right), \qquad A = -\frac{U^2 F^3}{N} \sim -\frac{\left(\Gamma \ln(U)\right)^3}{UN^4}.$$
 (113)

This result implies that, even if the pairing is a uniform matrix whose elements are $\propto \frac{1}{N}$, the corresponding self-energy decays much faster upon increasing *N*, validating the approach used for calculating the Josephson current.

5 Other cases

Let us consider three different situations in order to compare the results with those obtained for the SYK model. The first case is just the non-interacting dot with N modes. The second one is the bilinear version of the SYK model, also called SYK₂ (the original model is also called SYK₄), that is a non-interacting all-to all random hopping model. We will conclude discussing the generalized model with q fermions.

5.1 Zero interaction

For U = 0 we have $\Sigma = 0$, therefore $\tilde{G}_0^{-1} = i\omega$ and $\tilde{G}_3^{-1} = \mu$, therefore the Josephson current, Eq. (62), becomes

$$I = \frac{\Gamma^2 \Delta^2}{\beta} \sin(\phi) \sum_{\omega} \frac{1}{\Gamma^2 \Delta^2 \cos^2(\phi/2) + \left(\omega \sqrt{\omega^2 + \Delta^2} + \omega \Gamma_0\right)^2 + \left(\mu \sqrt{\omega^2 + \Delta^2} - i\omega \Gamma_3\right)^2}.$$
 (114)

For $\Gamma_0 \gg \Delta$, using $\Gamma_0^2 - \Gamma_3^2 = \Gamma^2$, and approximating Eq. (114) as follows

$$I \simeq \frac{\Gamma^2 \Delta^2}{\beta} \sin(\phi) \sum_{\omega} \frac{1}{\Gamma^2 \Delta^2 \cos^2(\phi/2) + \mu^2 \Delta^2 + \omega^2 (\Gamma^2 + \mu^2) - 2i\omega\mu\Gamma_3 \Delta},$$
 (115)

we can sum over the Matsubara frequencies by complex analysis. Introducing the transmission coefficient, t_o ranging from 0 to 1,

$$t_o = \frac{\Gamma^2}{\Gamma^2 + \mu^2},$$
(116)

we get the following analytical form

$$I \simeq \frac{\Delta}{2} \sin(\phi) \frac{t_o \sinh(\beta \Delta \sqrt{1 - t_o \sin^2(\phi/2) + t_o(1 - t_o)\Gamma_3^2/\Gamma^2})}{\cosh(\beta \Delta \sqrt{1 - t_o \sin^2(\phi/2) + t_o(1 - t_o)\Gamma_3^2/\Gamma^2}) + \cosh(\beta \Delta \sqrt{t_o(1 - t_o)}\Gamma_3/\Gamma)} \times \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - t_o \sin^2(\phi/2) + t_o(1 - t_o)\Gamma_3^2/\Gamma^2}}.$$
(117)

For $\Gamma_3 = 0$, namely for $|t_{\uparrow}| = |t_{\downarrow}|$, Eq. (117) reduces to the same result of a spinfull single level dot

$$I \simeq \frac{\Delta}{2} \sin(\phi) \frac{t_o \tanh\left(\frac{\beta}{2}\Delta\sqrt{1 - t_o \sin^2(\phi/2)}\right)}{\sqrt{1 - t_o \sin^2(\phi/2)}}.$$
 (118)

For $T \rightarrow 0$, Eq. (117) becomes simply

$$I \simeq \frac{\Delta}{2} \sin(\phi) \frac{t_o}{\sqrt{1 - t_o \sin^2(\phi/2) + t_o (1 - t_o) \Gamma_3^2 / \Gamma^2}}.$$
 (119)

For large temperature, $T \gg \Delta$, the current in Eq. (117) becomes

$$I \simeq \frac{\Delta^2 t_o}{4T} \sin(\phi), \qquad (120)$$

namely, it decays as Δ^2/T . This result has to be contrasted with Eq. (99) obtained for large interaction.

5.2 SYK₂ dot

Let us consider the SYK version with two fermions, called SYK₂, which reads

$$H_{d} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \sum_{i,j=1}^{N} U_{ij} d_{i}^{\dagger} d_{j}, \qquad (121)$$

with U_{ij} random variables with zero mean and such that $\overline{|U_{ij}|^2} = U^2$. In the strong coupling and for large *N*, at for zero temperature, the single particle Green's function has an analytic form

$$G_0^{-1}(\omega) = iU\operatorname{sgn}(\omega). \tag{122}$$

As done for the SYK₄ model, we can integrate over disorder getting

$$S'_{d} = \sum_{n,a} \int_{0}^{\beta} d\tau \, d^{\dagger}_{na}(\tau) (\partial_{\tau} - \mu) \, d_{na}(\tau) + \frac{U^{2}}{2N} \sum_{a,b} \int_{0}^{\beta} d\tau d\tau' \left| \sum_{n} d^{\dagger}_{na}(\tau) d_{nb}(\tau') \right|^{2} + S_{c}, \quad (123)$$

which can be decoupled as

$$\begin{split} S_{d} &= \sum_{na} \int_{0}^{\beta} d\tau \, d_{na}^{\dagger}(\tau) (\partial_{\tau} - \mu) \, d_{na}(\tau) + \sum_{ab} \int_{0}^{\beta} d\tau d\tau' \Big[\frac{N}{2U^{2}} \left| \Sigma^{ab}(\tau, \tau') \right|^{2} + \frac{N}{2U^{2}} \sum_{nm} \left| F_{nm}^{ab}(\tau, \tau') \right|^{2} \\ &+ i \Sigma^{ba}(\tau', \tau) \sum_{n} d_{na}^{\dagger}(\tau) d_{nb}(\tau') - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{nm} \left(d_{na}^{\dagger}(\tau) F_{nm}^{ab*}(\tau, \tau') d_{mb}^{\dagger}(\tau') + d_{nb}(\tau') F_{nm}^{ab}(\tau, \tau') d_{ma}(\tau) \right) \Big] \\ &+ S_{c} \,, \end{split}$$

with $\Sigma^{ab*}(\tau, \tau') = \Sigma^{ba}(\tau', \tau)$ and $F^{ab}_{nm}(\tau, \tau') = F^{ab}_{mn}(\tau, \tau')$. In the diagonal replica index, and for zero replica limit, the saddle point equations are

$$\Sigma(\tau,\tau') = -\frac{iU^2}{2N} \sum_n \langle d_n^{\dagger}(\tau) d_n(\tau') \rangle, \qquad (124)$$

$$F_{nm}(\tau,\tau') = \frac{U^2}{2N} \langle d_n^{\dagger}(\tau) d_m^{\dagger}(\tau') \rangle.$$
(125)

One has to solve these equations self-consistently. Let us consider, for simplicity, $\mu = 0$, and t_{σ} real, so that $\Gamma_2 = 0$, and $t_{\uparrow} = t_{\downarrow}$ which implies $\Gamma_3 = 0$. The tunneling matrix, therefore has only components proportional to τ_0 and τ_1 . We then select only the self-energies in the same channels. The Green's function \mathcal{G} , then reads

$$\mathcal{G}_{nm}^{-1} = \mathcal{G}_0^{-1} \delta_{nm} + (\mathcal{T} + \hat{F}) J_{nm} = (i\omega - \Sigma) \tau_0 \,\delta_{nm} + \frac{1}{N} \big[\mathcal{T}_0 \,\tau_0 + (\mathcal{T}_1 + NF) \,\tau_1 \big] J_{nm} \,, \tag{126}$$

Sci Post

where we absorb *i* in Σ , namely $i\Sigma \rightarrow \Sigma$, and consider uniform \hat{F} like \mathcal{T} . We also define

$$\mathcal{T}_0 = \frac{i\omega\Gamma_0}{\sqrt{\omega^2 + \Delta^2}}, \qquad \mathcal{T}_1 = \frac{\Gamma_1\Delta\cos(\phi/2)}{\sqrt{\omega^2 + \Delta^2}}, \qquad (127)$$

with $\Gamma_0 = \Gamma_1 \equiv \Gamma$ for our choice of the parameters t_σ . We can write the self-consistent equations, in Fourier space, in the following form

$$\Sigma = \frac{U^2}{2N} \sum_{n} \operatorname{Tr}\left(\mathcal{G}_{nn}\tau_0\right), \qquad (128)$$

$$F = \frac{U^2}{2N} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\mathcal{G}_{nm} \tau_1 \right) \,. \tag{129}$$

We recognize in Eqs. (128), (129) the rainbow diagram equations reported in Refs. [39] and [37]. The self-energies can be obtained by employing Eq. (A.15) where we replace \mathcal{G}'_0 by \mathcal{G}_0 (we neglect corrections of order 1/N in the diagonal part, encoding Pauli exclusion principle, which would lead to subleading terms, as shown in Appendix A) and \mathcal{T} by $(\mathcal{T} + \hat{F})$, namely

$$\mathcal{G}_{nm} = \mathcal{G}_0 \,\delta_{nm} - \left[\left(N(\mathcal{T} + \hat{F}) + \mathcal{G}_0^{-1} \right)^{-1} (\mathcal{T} + \hat{F}) \mathcal{G}_0 \right] J_{nm} \,. \tag{130}$$

The self-consistent equations Eqs. (128), (129), using Eq. (130), read explicitly

$$\Sigma = \frac{U^2}{(i\omega - \Sigma)} \left[1 - \frac{1}{N} \left(\frac{(i\omega - \Sigma + \mathcal{T}_0)\mathcal{T}_0 - (\mathcal{T}_1 + NF)^2}{(i\omega - \Sigma + \mathcal{T}_0)^2 - (\mathcal{T}_1 + NF)^2} \right) \right],$$
(131)

$$F = -\frac{U^2}{N} \left[\frac{(\mathcal{T}_1 + NF)}{(i\omega - \Sigma + \mathcal{T}_0)^2 - (\mathcal{T}_1 + NF)^2} \right].$$
 (132)

In the large *N* limit Eq. (131) reduces to the uncoupled self-energy $\Sigma = \frac{U^2}{(i\omega - \Sigma)}$ whose solution is

$$\Sigma = \frac{i}{2} \left(\omega - \operatorname{sgn}(\omega) \sqrt{\omega^2 + 4U^2} \right), \qquad (133)$$

which implies the following uncoupled dot Green's function

$$\mathcal{G}_0 = G_0 \tau_0 = (i\omega - \Sigma)^{-1} \tau_0 = \frac{i}{2U^2} \left(\omega - \text{sgn}(\omega) \sqrt{\omega^2 + 4U^2} \right) \tau_0, \quad (134)$$

and for large *U* one recovers Eq. (122), where sign(ω) comes from requiring vanishing Σ in the zero interaction limit and then odd function in imaginary time. One can check that actually Eq. (134) is obtained by summing over the rainbow diagrams using the bare Green's function $(i\omega)^{-1}$

$$G_0 = \frac{1}{i\omega} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} C_n \left(\frac{U}{i\omega}\right)^{2n},$$
(135)

where $C_n = \frac{(2n)!}{(n+1)n!}$ are the Catalan numbers. By inspection of Eq. (132) we have $F \sim 1/N$ therefore it can not be neglected in the large *N* limit, since *NF* appears in the Green's function. Defining for simplicity

$$\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{T}_{1}^{2} + 3\left((i\omega - \Sigma + \mathcal{T}_{0})^{2} + U^{2}\right),$$
(136)

$$\mathcal{B} = 2\mathcal{T}_1^3 + 9\left(U^2 - 2(i\omega - \Sigma + \mathcal{T}_0)^2\right)\mathcal{T}_1,$$
(137)

we can solve algebraically Eq. (132) getting

$$NF = -\frac{2}{3}\mathcal{T}_1 + \frac{S}{3}\mathcal{A}\left(\frac{2}{\mathcal{B} + \sqrt{\mathcal{B}^2 - 4\mathcal{A}^3}}\right)^{1/3} + \frac{S^*}{3}\left(\frac{\mathcal{B} + \sqrt{\mathcal{B}^2 - 4\mathcal{A}^3}}{2}\right)^{1/3}, \quad (138)$$

where S = 1, for $\mathcal{T}_1 > 0$ ($0 \le \phi \le \pi$), and $S = -\frac{1+i\sqrt{3}}{2}$, for $\mathcal{T}_1 < 0$ ($\pi \le \phi \le 2\pi$). Inserting Eq. (133) one can calculate the Josephson current

$$I = -\frac{1}{\beta} \sum_{\omega} \partial_{\phi} \ln \left[(\mathcal{T}_1 + NF)^2 - (i\omega - \Sigma + \mathcal{T}_0)^2 \right], \qquad (139)$$

which, since Σ does not depend on ϕ , can be also written as

$$I = -\frac{2}{U^2 \beta} N \sum_{\omega} F \,\partial_{\phi} \left(\mathcal{T}_1 + NF \right) \,. \tag{140}$$

Let us now consider the limit of very large U, namely $U \gg \Gamma$ and Δ . In this limit $\Sigma \rightarrow -iU \operatorname{sgn}(\omega)$, and $\mathcal{A} \rightarrow \mathcal{T}_1^2$, $\mathcal{B} \rightarrow 3^3 U^2 \mathcal{T}_1$, therefore

$$NF \simeq \text{sgn}(\cos(\phi/2)) \frac{\left(U^2 \Gamma \Delta |\cos(\phi/2)|\right)^{1/3}}{(\omega^2 + \Delta^2)^{1/6}}.$$
 (141)

Notice that this expression is accurate for ϕ far from π , since the term $((i\omega - \Sigma + T_0)^2 + U^2)$ induces a gap close to $\phi = \pi$ for any finite value of *U*. The Josephson current is, therefore

$$I \simeq -\frac{1}{U^2 \beta} N^2 \sum_{\omega} \partial_{\phi} F^2, \qquad (142)$$

since $NF \gg T_1$. At zero temperature, introducing an ultraviolet cut-off Λ , we have

$$I \simeq \frac{\Delta}{6\pi} \left(\frac{\Gamma}{U}\right)^{2/3} \frac{\sin(\phi)}{(\cos^2(\phi/2))^{2/3}} \int_0^{\Lambda} \frac{d\omega}{(\omega^2 + 1)^{1/3}} \approx \frac{\Delta}{2\pi} \left(\frac{\Gamma}{U}\right)^{2/3} \frac{\sin(\phi)}{(\cos^2(\phi/2))^{2/3}} \Lambda^{1/3}.$$
 (143)

Since Eq. (122) is valid for $U \gg |\omega|$ the cut-off Λ might be taken $\sim U$.

Here a comment is in order. If we used a different coupling with the leads, such that only few and specific modes of the dot were involved, the tunneling matrix would be sparse diagonal, with many null elements. In our case, since the dot is made by spinless fermions, stricktly speaking the anomalous terms should vanish. Nevertheless let us consider this case discussed in Ref. [37] where two superconducting leads were coupled to a chaotic metallic cavity. The calculation is pretty similar to what reported here. The only difference is that both T and F are now diagonal. The saddle point equations are again equivalent to those obtained by resummation of the non-crossing diagrams, as shown also in our case. We have, then, to solve the self-consistent equations, where Eq. (126) is replaced by the following Eq. (146),

$$\Sigma = \frac{U^2}{2N} \sum_{n} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\mathcal{G}_{nn} \tau_0 \right) , \qquad (144)$$

$$F = \frac{U^2}{2N} \sum_n \operatorname{Tr}(\mathcal{G}_{nn}\tau_1), \qquad (145)$$

$$\mathcal{G}_{nm}^{-1} = [(i\omega - \Sigma + \mathcal{T}_0)\tau_0 + (\mathcal{T}_1 + F)\tau_1]\delta_{nm}, \qquad (146)$$

since $\Gamma_{nm} \propto \delta_{nm} \Gamma_n$ and $\Gamma_n \neq 0$ for $n = 1, ..., n_c$ and $\Gamma_n = 0$ for $n = n_c + 1, ..., N$. We have exactly the same kind of equations reported in Ref. [37]. Quite strikingly, in the so-called ergodic and long dwell-time regime, the authors of Ref. [37] solved Eqs. (144)-(146) for $N \gg n_c$ getting a Josephson current of the same form of Eq. (67), where the Thouless energy E_T is replaced by $\Gamma^2/U \ll \Delta$. The crucial difference between the SYK₂ model discussed here, with respect to the case of a chaotic tunneling Josephson junction discussed in Ref. [37], is that the dot here is considered fully coupled with the leads, because all modes of the dot are equivalent to each other.

5.3 SYK_q dot

Let us conclude discussing the generalized model with q fermions. As shown previously, for q = 2 and fully contacted dot, the effect of the hybridization and, more specifically, the induced pairing in the dot are very strong also in the large N limit. For q = 4, instead, the self-energy induced by the coupling with the leads remains the bare one for large N. One expect that the same situation is valid for any $q \ge 4$. In this situation we can directly write the large U limit for the Josephson current as

$$I = \frac{\Gamma^2 \Delta^2}{2\pi} \sin(\phi) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d\omega}{\Gamma^2 \Delta^2 \cos^2(\phi/2) - \left(G_0^{-1}(\omega)\sqrt{(\omega^2 + \Delta^2)} + i\omega\Gamma_0\right)^2 - \omega^2\Gamma_3^2}, \quad (147)$$

where we fixed $\mu = 0$ and, for $q \ge 2$, the exact Green's function in the large *N* limit reads [40]

$$G_0^{-1}(\omega) = iC_q U^{\frac{2}{q}} \operatorname{sgn}(\omega) |\omega|^{1-\frac{2}{q}}, \qquad (148)$$

with coefficient $C_q = \frac{(2\pi)^{1/q} \sec(\frac{\pi}{q})}{2\left[\left(1-\frac{2}{q}\right)\tan(\frac{\pi}{q})\right]^{1/q}\Gamma(1-\frac{2}{q})}$. For any q > 4 and for weak tunneling, $\Gamma \ll \Delta$, we get the following result for the current

$$I \simeq \frac{\Gamma^2}{\pi} \sin(\phi) \int_0^\infty \frac{d\omega}{\Gamma^2 \cos^2(\phi/2) + C_q^2 U^{\frac{4}{q}} \omega^{2-\frac{4}{q}}},$$
 (149)

namely the superconducting pairing drops out completely, since Δ does not even play the role of an ultraviolet cut-off, as for q = 4. Introducing a cut-off Λ the result, for any $q \ge 4$, is

$$I \simeq \frac{\sin(\phi)\Lambda}{\pi\cos^2(\phi/2)} {}_2F_1\left(\frac{q}{2(q-2)}, 1, 1 + \frac{q}{2(q-2)}; -\frac{C_q^2 U^{\frac{4}{q}}\Lambda^{2-\frac{4}{q}}}{\Gamma^2\cos^2(\phi/2)}\right),$$
(150)

where $_{2}F_{1}(a, b, c; z)$ is the hypergeometric function. For q = 4, we recover the result reported in Eq. (67) with $\Lambda = \Delta$, while for any q > 4 the limit $\Lambda \to \infty$ is finite therefore we do not need to use any cut-off.

For the very extreme case of $q \to \infty$ we have that $C_q \to 1/2$ and $G_0^{-1}(\omega) \to i\omega/2$, and always for $\Gamma \ll \Delta$, the current reduces simply to

$$I \simeq \Gamma \frac{\sin(\phi)}{|\cos(\phi/2)|},\tag{151}$$

namely, it approaches a π -junction upon increasing q, loosing the dependence also on U.

In the other limit, $\Gamma \gg \Delta$ and for q such that $U^{2/q} \ll \Gamma$, e.g. $q \to \infty$, from Eq. (147) we get

$$I \simeq \frac{\Delta}{2} \frac{\sin(\phi)}{|\cos(\phi/2)|},\tag{152}$$

which is the same current for the non-interacting case, Eq. (119) for $t_o = 1$, at resonance.

Conclusions 6

We studied the Josephson effect obtained by contacting a SYK4 dot by two superconducting leads. We showed that a proximity effect is induced in the dot, however the self-energy is weakly affected by the coupling with the leads in the so-called conformal limit, namely for large interaction and large number of particles. We found that, in this limit, the Josephson current is suppressed by U, the strength of the interaction, as $\ln(U)/U$ and becomes universal, since the current turns out to be independent on the superconducting pairing, and robust under phase fluctuations. This result implies that the Josephson current, at zero temperature, and in the conformal limit, is almost the same, up to logarithmic corrections, for all BCS-like superconductors. At finite temperature T, instead, the dependence on the superconducting gap is restored. The current becomes dependent on the ratio between the gap and the temperature and goes as Δ^2/T^2 for sufficiently large temperatures. Finally we compare the Josephson current got for the SYK₄ with those obtained for other SYK_q models.

Acknowledgments

The author thanks R. Egger, D. Bagrets and N. Gnezdilov for useful comments.

Funding information The author acknowledges financial support from the project BIRD 2021 "Correlations, dynamics and topology in long-range quantum systems" of the Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of Padova, from the European Union - Next Generation EU within the National Center for HPC, Big Data and Quantum Computing (Project No. CN00000013, CN1 Spoke 10 Quantum Computing) and from the Project "Frontiere Quantistiche" (Dipartimenti di Eccellenza) of the Italian Ministry for Universities and Research.

A Appendix

If we used Eq. (25) instead of Eq. (24) in Eq. (51), to take into account that the diagonal terms in the action Eq. (12) are null, we would get corrections of order O(1/N) in the diagonal self-energy. Specifically, since $\delta \mathcal{G}_0 \propto \mathcal{G}_0(\mathcal{T}_1 \tau_1 + \mathcal{T}_2 \tau_2)\mathcal{G}_0$ where \mathcal{G}_0 contains only τ_0 and τ_3 , then at the leading order in 1/N the self energy is corrected by $\delta \Sigma \propto \mathcal{G}_0^2 \delta \mathcal{G}_0$ which is only proportional to τ_1 and τ_2 . Let us consider

$$i\omega\tau_0 + \mu\tau_3 - \Sigma - \frac{\delta\Sigma}{N} + \mathcal{T}'_{nm},$$
 (A.1)

where $\delta \Sigma / N$ is the self-energy correction and \mathcal{T}'_{nm} as in Eq. (25). We can define conveniently the following generic form for the Green's function

$$\mathcal{G}_{0}^{\prime -1} = \tilde{G}_{0}^{-1}\tau_{0} + \tilde{G}_{1}^{-1}\tau_{1} + \tilde{G}_{2}^{-1}\tau_{2} + G_{3}^{-1}\tau_{3}, \qquad (A.2)$$

where now

$$\tilde{G}_0^{-1} = i\omega - \Sigma_0, \qquad (A.3)$$

$$\tilde{G}_1^{-1} = -\frac{1}{N} \left(\frac{\Gamma_1 \Delta \cos(\phi/2)}{\sqrt{\omega^2 + \Delta^2}} + \delta \Sigma_1 \right), \tag{A.4}$$

$$\tilde{G}_2^{-1} = -\frac{1}{N} \left(\frac{\Gamma_2 \Delta \cos(\phi/2)}{\sqrt{\omega^2 + \Delta^2}} + \delta \Sigma_2 \right), \tag{A.5}$$

$$\tilde{G}_{3}^{-1} = \mu - \Sigma_{3},$$
 (A.6)

so that Eq. (A.1) can be written as

$$\mathcal{G}_{nm}^{\prime-1} = \mathcal{G}_0^{\prime-1} \delta_{nm} + \mathcal{T} J_{nm} \,, \tag{A.7}$$

Sci Post

where \mathcal{T} is defined in Eq. (23), or, to simplify the notation,

$$\mathcal{T} = \frac{1}{N} \left(\mathcal{T}_0 \,\tau_0 + \mathcal{T}_1 \,\tau_1 + \mathcal{T}_2 \,\tau_2 + \mathcal{T}_3 \,\tau_3 \right) \,. \tag{A.8}$$

We can, now, employ Eq. (59) simply replacing \mathcal{G}_0 by \mathcal{G}'_0 and \mathcal{G} by \mathcal{G}' , namely

$$\det[\mathcal{G}^{\prime-1}] = \left(\det[\mathcal{G}_0^{\prime-1}]\right)^{N-1} \left(\det[\mathcal{G}_0^{\prime-1}] + N \operatorname{Tr}[\mathcal{T}\mathcal{G}_0^{\prime}] \det[\mathcal{G}_0^{\prime-1}] + N^2 \det[\mathcal{T}]\right), \quad (A.9)$$

getting, from Eqs. (A.2) and (A.8),

$$\det[\mathcal{G}^{\prime-1}] = \left(\det[\mathcal{G}_{0}^{\prime-1}]\right)^{N-1} \left[\left(\tilde{G}_{0}^{-1} + \mathcal{T}_{0}\right)^{2} - \left(\tilde{G}_{1}^{-1} - \mathcal{T}_{1}\right)^{2} - \left(\tilde{G}_{2}^{-1} - \mathcal{T}_{2}\right)^{2} - \left(\tilde{G}_{3}^{-1} - \mathcal{T}_{3}\right)^{2} \right], \quad (A.10)$$

so that

$$\ln \det[\mathcal{G}^{\prime-1}] = (N-1)\ln\left[(\tilde{G}_0^{-1})^2 - (\tilde{G}_1^{-1})^2 - (\tilde{G}_2^{-1})^2 - (\tilde{G}_3^{-1})^2\right] + \ln\left[\left(\tilde{G}_0^{-1} + \mathcal{T}_0\right)^2 - \left(\tilde{G}_1^{-1} - \mathcal{T}_1\right)^2 - \left(\tilde{G}_2^{-1} - \mathcal{T}_2\right)^2 - \left(\tilde{G}_3^{-1} - \mathcal{T}_3\right)^2\right].$$
(A.11)

Expanding in 1/N we get

$$\ln \det[\mathcal{G}^{\prime-1}] = \ln[(\tilde{G}_0^{-1})^2 - (\tilde{G}_3^{-1})^2]^{N-1} + \ln\left[\left(\tilde{G}_0^{-1} + \mathcal{T}_0\right)^2 - \mathcal{T}_1^2 - \mathcal{T}_2^2 - \left(\tilde{G}_3^{-1} - \mathcal{T}_3\right)^2\right] + O\left(\frac{1}{N}\right)$$

= $\ln \det[\mathcal{G}^{-1}] + O\left(\frac{1}{N}\right),$ (A.12)

which is equal to the logarithm of Eq. (60) up to corrections of order O(1/N).

Finally, we can invert a matrix of the form reported in Eq. (A.7), by using the geometric series,

$$\mathcal{G}' = \left(\mathbb{I} + \mathcal{G}'_0 \mathcal{T}J\right)^{-1} \mathcal{G}'_0 = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (-1)^n (\mathcal{G}'_0 \mathcal{T}J)^n \mathcal{G}'_0, \qquad (A.13)$$

and noticing that $J^n = N^{(n-1)}J$. We get the following result

$$\mathcal{G}' = \left(\mathbb{I} + \frac{1}{N}\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-1)^n (N\mathcal{G}'_0\mathcal{T})^n J\right) \mathcal{G}'_0 = \mathcal{G}'_0\mathbb{I} + \left(\tau_0 + N\mathcal{G}'_0\mathcal{T}\right)^{-1} \mathcal{G}'_0\mathcal{T}\mathcal{G}'_0J, \qquad (A.14)$$

which can be rewritten explicitly as

$$\mathcal{G}'_{nm} = \mathcal{G}'_0 \,\delta_{nm} - \left[\left(N \mathcal{T} + \mathcal{G}'^{-1}_0 \right)^{-1} \mathcal{T} \mathcal{G}'_0 \right] J_{nm} \,, \tag{A.15}$$

useful to calculate the self-energy corrections due to the coupling with the leads.

References

- [1] S. Sachdev and J. Ye, *Gapless spin-fluid ground state in a random quantum Heisenberg magnet*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **70**, 3339 (1993), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.70.3339.
- [2] A. Kitaev, A simple model of quantum holography (part 1 and 2), Kavli Institute for Theoretical Physics, Santa Barbara, USA (2015), https://online.kitp.ucsb.edu/online/ entangled15/kitaev, http://online.kitp.ucsb.edu/online/entangled15//kitaev2.
- [3] D. Chowdhury, A. Georges, O. Parcollet and S. Sachdev, Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev models and beyond: Window into non-Fermi liquids, Rev. Mod. Phys. 94, 035004 (2022), doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.94.035004.

- [4] A. A. Patel and S. Sachdev, *Theory of a Planckian metal*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **123**, 066601 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.123.066601.
- [5] S. Sachdev, Strange metals and black holes: Insights from the Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev model, Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Physics (2023), doi:10.1093/acrefore/9780190871994.013.48.
- [6] A. Kitaev and S. J. Suh, *The soft mode in the Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev model and its gravity dual*, J. High Energy Phys. 05, 183 (2018), doi:10.1007/JHEP05(2018)183.
- [7] J. Maldacena and D. Stanford, *Remarks on the Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev model*, Phys. Rev. D 94, 106002 (2016), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.94.106002.
- [8] G. Sarosi, *AdS*₂ holography and the *SYK* model, Proc. Sci. **323**, 1 (2018), doi:10.22323/1.323.0001.
- [9] A. Chew, A. Essin and J. Alicea, *Approximating the Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev model with Majorana wires*, Phys. Rev. B **96**, 121119 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.96.121119.
- [10] M. Franz and M. Rozali, Mimicking black hole event horizons in atomic and solid-state systems, Nat. Rev. Mater. 3, 491 (2018), doi:10.1038/s41578-018-0058-z.
- [11] A. Chen, R. Ilan, F. de Juan, D. I. Pikulin and M. Franz, Quantum holography in a graphene flake with an irregular boundary, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121, 036403 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.121.036403.
- [12] C. Wei and T. A. Sedrakyan, Optical lattice platform for the Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev model, Phys. Rev. A 103, 013323 (2021), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.103.013323.
- [13] P. Uhrich, S. Bandyopadhyay, N. Sauerwein, J. Sonner, J-P. Brantut and P. Hauke, A cavity quantum electrodynamics implementation of the Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev model, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2303.11343.
- [14] A. Eberlein, V. Kasper, S. Sachdev and J. Steinberg, Quantum quench of the Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev model, Phys. Rev. B 96, 205123 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.96.205123.
- [15] T.-G. Zhou and P. Zhang, *Tunneling through an eternal traversable wormhole*, Phys. Rev. B 102, 224305 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.102.224305.
- [16] S. Sachdev, Bekenstein-Hawking entropy and strange metals, Phys. Rev. X 5, 041025 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevX.5.041025.
- [17] A. Kruchkov, A. A. Patel, P. Kim and S. Sachdev, *Thermoelectric power of Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev* islands: Probing Bekenstein-Hawking entropy in quantum matter experiments, Phys. Rev. B 101, 205148 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.101.205148.
- [18] A. Altland, D. Bagrets and A. Kamenev, Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev non-Fermi-liquid correlations in nanoscopic quantum transport, Phys. Rev. Lett. 123, 226801 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.123.226801.
- [19] H. Guo, Y. Gu and S. Sachdev, Linear in temperature resistivity in the limit of zero temperature from the time reparameterization soft mode, Ann. Phys. 418, 168202 (2020), doi:10.1016/j.aop.2020.168202.
- [20] X.-Y. Song, C.-M. Jian and L. Balents, Strongly correlated metal built from Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev models, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119, 216601 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.119.216601.

- [21] R. A. Davison, W. Fu, A. Georges, Y. Gu, K. Jensen and S. Sachdev, Thermoelectric transport in disordered metals without quasiparticles: The Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev models and holography, Phys. Rev. B 95, 155131 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.95.155131.
- [22] N. V. Gnezdilov, J. A. Hutasoit and C. W. J. Beenakker, Low-high voltage duality in tunneling spectroscopy of the Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev model, Phys. Rev. B 98, 081413 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.98.081413.
- [23] O. Can, E. M. Nica and M. Franz, Charge transport in graphene-based mesoscopic realizations of Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev models, Phys. Rev. B 99, 045419 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.99.045419.
- [24] G. Francica, M. Uguccioni and L. Dell'Anna, Normal and superconducting currents through the Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev model, Phys. Rev. B 108, 165106 (2023), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.108.165106.
- [25] A. Kulkarni, T. Numasawa and S. Ryu, Lindbladian dynamics of the Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev model, Phys. Rev. B 106, 075138 (2022), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.106.075138.
- [26] A. Almheiri, A. Milekhin, and B. Swingle, *Universal constraints on energy flow and SYK thermalization*, J. High Energy Phys. **08**, 34 (2024), doi:10.1007/JHEP08(2024)034.
- [27] P. Zhang, Evaporation dynamics of the Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev model, Phys. Rev. B 100, 245104 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.100.245104.
- [28] Y. Cheipesh, A. I. Pavlov, V. Ohanesjan, K. Schalm and N. V. Gnezdilov, Quantum tunneling dynamics in a complex-valued Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev model quench-coupled to a cool bath, Phys. Rev. B 104, 115134 (2021), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.104.115134.
- [29] H. Hosseinabadi, S. P. Kelly, J. Schmalian and J. Marino, *Thermalization of non-Fermi*liquid electron-phonon systems: Hydrodynamic relaxation of the Yukawa-Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev model, Phys. Rev. B 108, 104319 (2023), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.108.104319.
- [30] I. Esterlis and J. Schmalian, *Cooper pairing of incoherent electrons: An electron-phonon version of the Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev model*, Phys. Rev. B **100**, 115132 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.100.115132.
- [31] Y. Cheipesh, A. I. Pavlov, V. Scopelliti, J. Tworzydło and N. V. Gnezdilov, *Reentrant superconductivity in a quantum dot coupled to a Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev metal*, Phys. Rev. B 100, 220506 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.100.220506.
- [32] Y. Wang, Solvable strong-coupling quantum-dot model with a non-Fermi-liquid pairing transition, Phys. Rev. Lett. **124**, 017002 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.124.017002.
- [33] H. Wang, A. L. Chudnovskiy, A. Gorsky and A. Kamenev, Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev superconductivity: Quantum Kuramoto and generalized Richardson models, Phys. Rev. Res. 2, 033025 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevResearch.2.033025.
- [34] M. Tinkham, Introduction to superconductivity (2nd edition), McGraw-Hill, New York, USA, ISBN 9780070648777 (1975).
- [35] K. Flensberg, Tunneling characteristics of a chain of Majorana bound states, Phys. Rev. B 82, 180516 (2010), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.82.180516.
- [36] A. Zazunov and R. Egger, *Supercurrent blockade in Josephson junctions with a Majorana* wire, Phys. Rev. B **85**, 104514 (2012), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.85.104514.

- [37] P. W. Brouwer and C. W. J. Beenakker, Anomalous temperature dependence of the supercurrent through a chaotic Josephson junction, Chaos Solit. Fractals 8, 1249 (1997), doi:10.1016/S0960-0779(97)00018-0.
- [38] C. W. J. Beenakker, *Three "universal" mesoscopic Josephson effects*, in H. Fukuyama and T. Ando (eds.), *Transport phenomena in mesoscopic systems*, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, Germany, ISBN 9783642848186 (1992), doi:10.1007/978-3-642-84818-6_22.
- [39] E. Brézin and A. Zee, *Correlation functions in disordered systems*, Phys. Rev. E **49**, 2588 (1994), doi:10.1103/PhysRevE.49.2588.
- [40] D. J. Gross and V. Rosenhaus, A generalization of Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev, J. High Energy Phys. 02, 093 (2017), doi:10.1007/JHEP02(2017)093.